BRYAN COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION

Public Hearing Date: September 4, 2018

REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF: Bryan County, for a Text Amendment application, to amend Article IV to include Sections 403 and 404, to repeal and replace Articles XIII, XIV, XV and XVI of Chapter 13, Minor Subdivisions, of the Subdivision Regulations, of the Bryan County Code of Ordinances.

Staff Report

by Jeff Adams, PhD

Dated: July 30, 2018

I. Application Summary

Requested Action: Public hearing and consideration of a text amendment for Bryan County, GA. The application is proposed to amend Article IV to include Sections 403 and 404, to repeal and replace Articles XIII, XIV, XV and XVI of Chapter 13, Minor Subdivisions, of the Subdivision Regulations, of the Bryan County Code of Ordinances.

Representative:

Applicable Regulations:

- The State of Georgia, Title 36. Local Government Provisions Applicable to Counties and Municipal Corporations, Chapter 67. Zoning Proposal Review Procedures, Georgia Code O.C.G.A. 36-67
- Bryan County Subdivision Ordinance, Appendix A Subdivisions, Article XXI, Amendments.

II. General Information

- **1. Application:** A Text Amendment application was placed by the Administrator on July 9, 2018. After reviewing the application, the Administrator certified the applications as being generally complete on July 9, 2018.
- 2. Notice: Public notice for this application was as follows:

A. Legal notice was published in the Bryan County News on August 23, 2018.

B. The Agenda and notice of the Hearing was posted at the County Courthouse and the County's website on August 22, 2018.

3. Any disclosures (i.e. conflicts of interest, site visits or ex parte communications)?

4. Background: The last comprehensive ordinance update for Bryan County's land use ordinances took place in 1995. Many things have changed in the land development practices over the past twenty years and many things have changed in Bryan County and Coastal Georgia in those same years. This update will provide new language for Minor Subdivisions and clearer administrative policies for all subdivision of land. This Interim Development Ordinance (IDO) is to act as a provisional ordinance while the County spends the coming year developing the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO).

The IDO was proposed by the consultant Michael Lauer in his Memo of January 30, 2018, where he describes the process to a UDO. These changes were first proposed during the recent Bryan County Comprehensive Plan update, of 2018, where the Land Use Element details the many changes needed to

develop the projected Community Vision.

5. Exhibits: The following Exhibits are attached hereto as referenced. All application documents were received at the Bryan County Planning office on February 14, 2018 unless otherwise noted.

"A" Exhibits- Application:

A-1 Text Amendment Application

A-2 Proposed Text Amendment Ordinance

"B" Exhibits- Agency Comments:

See Concurrent Conditional Use Comments

"C" Exhibits- Bryan County Supplements

C-1 Zoning Map of Interchange Commercial Districts

C-2 Comprehensive Plan North Bryan Character Area Map

"D" Exhibits- Public Comment:

No Public Comments Received

Article XXI. - Amendments, Sec. 2100 – General:

- (a) *Public hearings required*. Except as provided in section 2100(b) and (c), this ordinance may be amended from time to time by the county commission. Before enacting an amendment to this ordinance, the county commission shall hold a public hearing thereon, notice of which shall be published at least 15 and no more than 45 days prior to such public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation in Bryan County.
- (b) *Road classification plan.* Notwithstanding the requirements of section 2100(a), the county commission can, by resolution, at any regular or special meeting can, add roads to the appendix to this ordinance entitled "Road Classification Plan" whenever a road becomes public road or an approved private road system.
- (c) *Schedule of fees.* Notwithstanding the requirements of <u>section 2100(a)</u>, the county commission can, by resolution, at any regular or special meeting, modify the appendix to this ordinance entitled "Schedule of Fees."
- (d) *No public hearing*. No public hearings are required prior to the county commission adopting resolutions permitted under section 2100(b) and (c).
- ▶ Staff comment: As provided by ordinance there are no standards for which to review the amendments offered, except those offered by Georgia State Statutes that findings shall be in keeping with the long-range requirements of the public health, safety and welfare.

The current Subdivision Ordinance was first enacted under Article IX, Section 2, paragraph 4 and Article IX, Section 2, paragraph 1 of the Constitution of Georgia of 1983. With the latest edition revised in 1995.

The proposed Interim Development Ordinance (IDO) is the first step towards a Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), which will follow in the coming year. The IDO proposed is a general repeal and replacement of the many Articles that provide what are generally termed Minor Subdivisions in Bryan County. Articles XIII, XIV, XV and XVI currently permit a range of lots to be subdivided, with most focusing on family-lot splits or offering minimum improvements.

The proposed IDO offers a simplified process, in keeping with many of the best practices that can be found across the state and nation, breaking development into two general categories, Major and Minor Subdivisions, where Minor Subdivisions are for the subdivisions of limited or no improvements and

Major, for those requiring sewer, water and roadways, or some combination of those, as well as, higher standards, which in many communities means some form of design guidelines or standards.

Bryan County currently ranks ninth in the state in median household income. In a review of the state's other top ten county's subdivision ordinances one allows up to six lots through the minor subdivision process, four counties allow up to five lots, while there is one allowing up to three and one up to four lots. There are also two that limit only by acreage, as long as no new streets are created: one that limits by two acres and one by five acres per lot.

This IDO proposes to allow for minor subdivisions of up to eight parcels of ten acres each for non-development, without subsequent subdivision approval, or for up to four lots or parcels from a single parcel created prior to November 7, 1995. This is in keeping with the sample taken from similar jurisdictions and should simplify the subdivision process.

Where today the Minor Subdivision Articles provide the Planning Director the ability to approve most plats, the proposed IDO would only allow Ministerial Approval for Lot line Adjustments, Plat Corrections and Dedication Plats. Lot Splits and Conveyance Plats, under the proposed IDO would be required to have Planning Commission approval prior to Recordation.

All Major Subdivisions would be required to go through a Sketch Plan Review, prior to Preliminary Plat and Construction Plan approval before the Planning Commission. After improvements meet County standards and guarantees are in place for maintenance and dedications, the applicant then proceeds to Final Plat and Recordation.

The Planning Commission is also to serve as the County's Board of Adjustment, under the IDO, hearing Variances, which are currently heard by the Planning Director and hearing any Ministerial Appeals. This is more in keeping with best practices from across the state and nation, and will remove the Planning Director from a difficult position of advising and adjudicating on the same application.

The major questions being asked by this update surround the following:

- 1. Number of lots to be allowed through the minor subdivision process, where limited improvements are warranted?
- 2. Sketch Plan, Preliminary Plat & Construction Plan and Final Plat Processing?
- 3. Site Plan Review for Small Site Development and Redevelopment, and Major Site Development?

- 4. Planning Commission functions as County's Board of Adjustment, hearing Variances and Ministerial Appeals?
- 5. Introduction of Design Guidelines?

IV. Recommendation

Recommendation: The Commission may recommend that the ordinance amendment be granted as requested, or it may recommend approval of the amendment requested subject to provisions, or it may recommend that the amendment be denied.

The Commission may continue the hearing for additional information from the applicant, additional public input or for deliberation.

| ► Motion Regarding Compliance with Comprehensive Plan: Having considered the evidence in the | |
|--|-----|
| ecord, upon motion by Commissioner, second by Commissioner, | |
| and by vote of to, the Commission hereby finds the proposed rezone map amendment is/is not | in |
| accordance with the Comprehensive Plan. | |
| f found in accordance with the Plan, the Commission may recommend the amendment be granted as equested, or it may recommend approval of the amendment requested subject to provisions, or it may recommend that the amendment be denied. | |
| ► Motion Regarding Recommendation: Having considered the evidence in the record, upon motion | by |
| Commissioner, second by Commissioner, and by vote of to, t | - |
| Commission hereby recommends approval as proposed/approval with provisions/denial of the propos | sed |
| mendment. | |



ORDINANCE 2018-__

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE ARTICLES IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI OF THE SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE BRYAN COUNTY CODE INCLUDING GENERAL APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS, MINOR SUBDIVISIONS, SKETCH PLAN, CONSTRUCTION PLANS AND PRELIMINARY PLATS, FINAL PLATS, AND TRAFFIC IMPACT ASSESSMENTS; TO ADD ARTICLE XVII TO CHAPTER 13 OF THE BRYAN COUNTY CODE ADDRESSING SITE PLANS; TO SUPPLEMENT ARTICLE IV OF THE SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE ADDING COMPLETENESS REQUIREMENTS FOR APPLICATIONS UNDER CHAPTERS 12 AND 13 OF THE BRYAN COUNTY CODE; TO AMEND ZONING REGULATIONS IN CHAPTER 12 OF THE BRYAN COUNTY CODE BY EDITING THE USE, FACILITY, APPLICATION, AND AMENDMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS (PUD) IN ARTICLE XII, REPEALING AND REPLACING ARTICLE V ADDRESSING APPEALS VARIANCES AND ADMINISTRATIVE RELIEF, AMENDING ARTICLE X ADDRESSING ACCESSORY USES, AMENDING ARTICLE III TO CREATE A DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE; AND ADOPTING SITE AND BUILDING DESIGN GUIDELINES AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO:

Whereas, the Bryan County Planning Commission was established for the purpose to assist in guiding and accomplishing a coordinated and harmonious development of the county which will, in accordance with existing and future needs, best promote public health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity, and general welfare, as well as efficiency and economy in the process of development therefor;

Whereas, the Bryan County Planning Commission acts as a duly appointed recommending body to the Bryan County Board of Commissioners on land use in Bryan County;

Whereas, Section 2100 of the Bryan County Code grants the County Commission the ability to initiate a text amendment of the Subdivision and Zoning ordinances;

Whereas, all applicable regulations of § O.C.G.A 36-66-1 [et seq.], for public notice, shall be satisfied;

Whereas, Bryan County finds that its zoning and subdivision regulations are inadequate to address the development challenges it faces pursuant to its January 30, 2018 "Land Development Code Analysis;"

Whereas, Bryan County finds that adoption of an interim development ordinance pursuant that allows development to continue under heightened scrutiny is preferable to a broad development moratorium; and

Whereas, the Bryan County Planning and Zoning Commission and Board of County Commissioners have studied, discussed and conducted public hearings on an interim development ordinance that addresses the most critical development challenges facing the County.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BRYAN COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS:

SECTION 1: From the effective date of this ordinance the County adopts the interim development ordinance attached hereto, labeled "Attachment 1: Bryan County Interim Development Ordinance" and made a part of this ordinance which repeals, replaces or supplements portions of Chapters 12 and 13 of the Bryan County Code and creates design guidelines for specified development.

SECTION 2: The duration of this ordinance shall remain in effect for twenty-four (24) months from the date of its adoption or until the County adopts a unified development ordinance replacing this interim development ordinance, whichever occurs first, provided that the County may extend the duration of the interim development ordinance upon finding that it is making sufficient progress on the unified development ordinance and requires additional time to complete it.

SECTION 3: Should any article, section, subsection, provision, or clause of this interim development ordinance be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid for any reason whatsoever, the same shall not affect the validity of the ordinance as a whole or any part thereof other than the part judicially determined to be invalid.

SECTION 4: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 5: This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage.

| SO ORDAINED, this day of | , 2018 | |
|--------------------------|---------------------------|--|
| (CFAL) | BRYAN COUNTY, GEORGIA | |
| (SEAL) | Ву: | |
| | Chairman, Carter Infinger | |
| | Attest: | |
| | Clerk, Donna Waters | |
| 1 st Reading: | | |
| 2 nd Reading: | _ | |

Bryan County IDO

| Contents | |
|---|----|
| Bryan County IDO | 1 |
| Section 1: General Application Requirements | 2 |
| Section 2: Minor Subdivisions | 3 |
| Article XIII: Minor Subdivisions | 3 |
| Section 3: Sketch Plat | 7 |
| Article X – Sketch Plat | 7 |
| Section 4: Construction Plans and Preliminary Plats | 10 |
| Article XI – Preliminary Plats and Construction Plans | 10 |
| Exhibit 1101-1: Preliminary Plat Approval Process Summary | 11 |
| Section 5: Final Plat | 23 |
| Article XII –Final Plat | 23 |
| Exhibit 1202-1: Final Plat Approval Process Summary | 24 |
| Section 6: Traffic Impact Assessment | 27 |
| Article XV – Traffic Impact Assessment | 27 |
| Section 7: Site Plan | 31 |
| Article XVII – Site Plan | 31 |
| Section 8: Planned Unit Development (PUD) | 34 |
| Article XII – Planned Unit Development (PUD) | 34 |
| Section 9: Appeals, Variances and Administrative Relief | 37 |
| Article V – Appeals, Variances and Administrative Relief | 37 |
| Section 10: Accessory Uses | 41 |
| Section 11: Development Review Committee | 42 |
| Section 11: Site and Building Design Guidelines | 43 |
| Supplemental Site and Building Design Guidelines | 43 |

Section 1: General Application Requirements

The following sections 403 and 404 are hereby adopted as part of chapter 13 of the County code.

Section 403. Applications to Be Complete.

- a. No application required under Chapters 12 or 13 of the County code is complete unless all of the information required herein is included and all filing fees have been paid. An application that includes such information is deemed complete.
- b. Additional information may be required by the Planning or Engineering Director to determine whether or not the Development, if completed as proposed, will comply with all of the requirements of Chapters 12 and 13 of the County code. Failure to provide additional required information may will result in application delays in processing or disapproval of the application. The presumption established by this UDO is that all required application information is necessary.
- c. Review for completeness of application forms is solely for the purpose of determining whether preliminary information required for submission with the application is sufficient to allow further processing and shall not constitute a decision as to whether <u>the</u> application complies with Bryan County's rules and regulations.
- d. The Planning or Engineering Director may agree to process an application without all required information at the risk to the applicant that the decision-making body may later require the information prior to acting on the application.
- d.e. All information submitted as part of the application shall meet the intent of the requirements of this ordinance. Failure to submit adequate information to assess compliance with adopted rules and regulations may result in disapproval of the application.

Section 404 Time Limits for Completeness Determination.

- a. Not later than five (5) business days after the Planning or Engineering Director has received an application, the Director shall determine in writing whether the application is complete and shall immediately transmit the determination to the applicant.
- b. If the application requires review by any other local or special district, or regional, state, or federal agency or entity, the Director shall within five (5) business days transmit the application to such agency or entity requesting written comments within thirty (30) days. In such case, the Director shall have thirty-five (35) days to render a decision. [discuss Kirk's suggested edits to b and c]
- c. If the written determination is not made within the five (5) or thirty-five (35) day period, whichever is applicable, after receipt of the application, the application shall be deemed complete for purposes of this chapter. Upon receipt of any re-submittal of the application, a new five (5) day period shall begin, during which period the Director shall determine the completeness of the application.
- d. If the application, together with the submitted materials, is determined not to be complete:
 - 1. The Planning or Engineering Director shall specify in writing the information required.
 - 2. The applicant may resubmit the application with the information required by the Director or may appeal that decision in writing to the Planning and Zoning Commission.

3. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall render a final written determination on the appeal not later than the next available meeting after receipt of the applicant's written appeal.

Section 2: Minor Subdivisions

Articles XIII, XIV, XV and XVI and section of the Subdivision Regulations are hereby repealed and replaced with a new Article XIII: Minor Subdivisions of the Subdivision Regulations as follows:

Article XIII: Minor Subdivisions

Section 1300. Purpose.

To create an efficient minor subdivision process that allows for Planning and Zoning Commission approval of lot splits and conveyance plats, and staff approval of other minor subdivisions that have minimal impact on public facilities, do not require the construction or extension of the County roadway network or utility infrastructure, and are consistent with County zoning, subdivision and public improvement requirements.

Section 1301. Applicability.

Minor subdivisions include each of the following types of subdivisions

- a. **Lot splits** enable the creation of up to four (4) lots or parcels from a single parcel created prior to [November 7, 1995].
- b. **Conveyance plats** enable the division of land into up to eight (8) parcels of ten (10) acres or more from a single parcel created prior to [November 7, 1995] that are not intended to be developed for any purpose requiring a building permit without subsequent subdivision approval.
- c. **Lot line adjustments** enable changes to existing lot or parcel boundaries that do not create any additional lots or alter the overall density of the affected lots.
- d. **Plat corrections** enable corrections to errors or omissions on a recorded plat that does not materially change the boundaries of any of the parcels shown on the plat.
- e. **Dedication plats** plats documenting the conveyance of rights-of-way or easements.

Section 1302. Limitation on Subsequent Minor Subdivisions.

The minor subdivision process may be used no more than once for any parcel that is included within the boundaries of a minor subdivision or is a remaining portion of a parcel that was previously subdivided using the minor subdivision process. The limitation of this section shall not apply to plat corrections or dedication platsapplies only to lot splits. [confirm exclusion of dedication plats.]

Section 1303. Approval Criteria for Lot Splits.

Before approving a lot split, the Planning Director shall find that the proposed subdivision complies with each the following provisions:

- a. All lots created by a lot split shall comply with the minimum area and dimensional standards of Bryan County's zoning and subdivision regulations.
- b. Each lot shall be independently accessible from an abutting public road, or private drive created in compliance with applicable Bryan County standards.

- c. No public road shall be created through the lot split process, but the plat may include the dedication of public right-of-way for the widening of existing public roads abutting lots included in the lot split.
- d. Private roads or shared driveways-shall be placed in an access easement of at least forty (40) feet in width, unless the County Engineer finds that greater width is needed due to topography, drainage, or private road alignment. Private roads and shared driveways-for lot splits shall comply with the Private County Road Dirt Standards in areas designated for the agricultural and low density residential future land use category in the Comprehensive Plan and with the Private County Road Crush and Run Standards in areas designated for other future land use categories.
- e. Private roads or shared driveways shall not exceed three hundred (300) feet in length from the edge of the nearest public right-of-way to most distant property line along the road or driveway.
- f. Off-site utility improvements are limited to water and/or sewer line extensions of not more than one hundred and fifty (150) feet from the nearest property line of the subdivision. [discuss deletion]
- <u>f.</u> Off-site stormwater improvements are limited to abutting rights-of-way or easements The applicant shall submit a Homeowners Association document that shall be recorded with the final plat that assigns ownership of and responsibilities for maintenance of private roads and drainage systems. A note in accordance with section 1701 shall be included on the plat. The responsible party shall be one or more of the lot owners in the subdivision.
- g. Off-site stormwater improvements are limited to abutting rights-of-way or easements, which may be used only with the owner's constent.

Section 1304. Approval Criteria for Conveyance Plats.

Before approving a conveyance plat, the Planning Director shall find that the proposed subdivision complies with each the following provisions:

- a. All parcels resulting from the conveyance plat process shall be ten (10) acres or larger in net area, excluding water bodies, protected wetlands and land with elevations below the mean high tide, provided that any parcel that is placed in a conservation easement shall be 10 acres or larger in gross area.
- b. Each parcel must be accessible via public road or approved and dedicated private road or shared driveway created in compliance with applicable Bryan County standards, provided that such private roads and shared drives shall comply with requirements of section 1303 "d" and "e."
- c. The conveyance plat shall include the following statement: "No building permits will be issued for a building on any lot in this subdivision."

Section 1305. Approval Criteria for Lot Line Adjustments.

Before approving a lot line adjustment, the Planning Director shall find that:

- a. All resulting lots shall comply with minimum area and dimensional standards of County zoning and subdivision regulations; or
- b. Where one (1) or more of the existing lots is non-conforming, the proposed lot line adjustment improves overall compliance of the affected lots.

Section 1305. Approval Criteria for Plat Corrections.

Before approving a plat correction, the Planning Director shall find that the amendments are limited to changes required to correct a surveying or scrivener's error or omission, and do not change the density,

eliminate restrictions or substantively change the rights and responsibilities of the owners of the affected lots.

Section 1306. Approval Criteria for Dedication Plats.

Before approving a lot line adjustment, the Planning Director shall find that:

- a. Subdivision is created solely to document the conveyance of right-of-way or an easement for a public or private road, drainage improvement, utility improvement or other public purpose.
- b. Lots that fail to meet required dimensional or area requirements due to the dedication of public right-of-way shall be deemed to be conforming lots if dimensional or area requirements resulting from the dedication plat are at least eighty (80) percent of the minimum County requirements.

Section 1307. Application.

The formal approval process for each type of minor subdivision begins with the submittal of a complete application to Planning Director. Applicants are encouraged to discuss the proposed subdivision and submit a sketch plat prior to formal application. Applications shall include the following:

- a. A completed application on a form provide by the Planning Director;
- b. Payment of applicable fee;
- c. A copy of the existing plat or deed creating the affected lots or parcels.
- d. An ESA or affidavit described in section 521(b) of the County's subdivision regulations.
- e. A final plat prepared in accordance with sections 1202 and 1203 of the County's subdivision regulations.
- f. For any minor subdivision that does not encompass the entirety of all affected parcels, the applicant shall submit a sketch plat as defined in the County's subdivision regulations at a scale approved by the Planning Director.
- g. For a conveyance platsubdivisions involving the creation of a private road or shared drive, and any lot split, the applicant shall provide:
 - 1. A land disturbing activity permit issued pursuant to the soil erosion and sedimentation control ordinance of Bryan County, or a completed application for such permit, along with all supporting material.
 - 2. A topographical survey of the land to be divided that is prepared by a licensed surveyor or an engineer showing topography at vertical intervals of not more than one foot and a certificate from a licensed surveyor or engineer stating that drainage from the land to be divided will not affect adjacent property owners. If the proposed work will affect adjacent property owners by changing the flow of water to or from their property, an agreement or easement shall be provided.
 - 3. Plans for grading and surfacing, including plans for an apron extending from the existing pavement to the planned private road or shared drive.
- h. For lot splits including on or off-site water or sewer line extensions, the applicant shall submit plans for the extensions from existing facilities to the lot service lines. [discuss deletion]
- i. For any lot split, the Planning Director shall determine, based on the Bryan County soil survey maps and the national wetlands inventory maps, that no wetlands or hydric soils exist on the lots

created. If the Planning Director cannot make such a determination, the applicant must then provide one of the following to the Planning Director:

- 1. A soil map of the affected lots prepared by a <u>certified environmental scientist or</u> soils scientist that shows the absence of hydric soils present on the lots; or
- 2. A jurisdictional wetlands delineation <u>approved by the Army Corps of Engineers</u> of the land to be subdivided. The limits of any wetlands shall be surveyed and included on the final plat.

Section 1308. Review.

The Planning Director shall review the application for completeness in accordance with Sections 403 and 404 of the County's subdivision regulations.

Upon finding the application complete, the Planning Director shall review the proposed final plat and any other documents deemed necessary to determine the compliance of the proposed minor subdivision with this ordinance, and other applicable laws. The review of the following individuals must also be obtained when required by the Planning Director:

- a. The health department shall review the proposed water supply and sewerage disposal system and determine compliance with this ordinance and other applicable rules and regulations.
- b. The Engineering Director shall review the proposed final plat and determine the conformity of proposed road alignment with existing roads, the road classification plan and proposed public roads.
- c. The Engineering Director shall review the proposed water, sewer, and stormwater management improvements for compliance with applicable requirements.
- d. If deemed necessary by the Planning Director, review and comment from any consultants or other professionals retained by the County may be obtained.

Section 1309. Notice for Lot Splits and Conveyance Plats.

Notice is required for lot splits and conveyance plats. Following the Planning Director's determination that the application is complete, the applicant shall provide the following notice:

- a. **Mailed Notice**. Mail notice of the date, time, location and topic of a public hearing on the lot split or conveyance plat to the owners of all parcels located within 300 feet as measured from the nearest property line to the nearest property line. If the subdivision triggers the requirement for a traffic impact analysis pursuant to article XV of the subdivision regulations notice shall be required to be mailed to all properties located within 600 feet of the proposed subdivision.
- b. **Posted Notice**. At least one (1) Sign shall be posted at least fourteen (14) days prior to the hearing in conspicuous places visible from each street along the frontage of the subject property. Signs shall be in a form approved by the Planning Director with the words "Subdivision Decision" in six (6) inch tall lettering and the planning department phone number clearly legible from the street.
- c. **Published Notice**. Publish notice in a newspaper of general circulation within Bryan County in the public notices section at least 15 days, but not more than 45 days prior to the hearing.

Section 1310. Planning and Zoning Commission Action on Lot Splits and Conveyance Plats.

After conducting a hearing the Planning and Zoning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions or disapprove the application for a lot split or conveyance plat. If the plat is approved, the Chair of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall sign the proposed final plat which can then be recorded in the clerk of superior court's office.

Section 1311. Planning Director Action on Lot Line Adjustments, Plat Corrections and Dedication Plats.

Planning Director shall approve or disapprove the application within thirty (30) days of finding the application complete and shall notify the applicant of the action in writing. If the plat complies with the requirements of these regulations, the Director shall sign the proposed final plat which can then be recorded in the clerk of superior court's office. If the Planning Director finds that the proposed design of a subdivision shown on the proposed final plat does not comply with this ordinance and other applicable laws, then such plat shall be disapproved, and reasons noted for such disapproval in the records. Notwithstanding the noting of such reasons for disapproval in the records of the planning director, an applicant must meet all provisions of this ordinance and other applicable laws to later obtain approval by the Planning Director of proposed final plat.

Section 1312. Appeals.

Planning and Zoning Commission actions on lot splits and conveyance plats may be appealed to the Board of County Commissioners. If the Planning Director disapproves a lot line adjustment, plat correction or dedication plat, the applicant may appeal the action to the Planning and Zoning Commission pursuant to Article V of the Zoning Ordinance.

Section 1313. Effect of Approval.

After approval, the applicant may proceed with installation of the private road or shared driveway and any other required public improvements. No building permits shall be granted until required improvements are completed and approved in compliance with section 1312, and the plat is recorded in compliance with section 1313.

Section 1314. Inspection.

The County Engineer shall inspect all required improvements to determine compliance with applicable requirements and provide written approval of the improvements or a written explanation of any deficiencies precluding approval.

Section 1315. Recording.

Applicant shall record the final plat within six (6) months of the Planning Director's approval. Failure to record shall result in expiration and require resubmittal.

Section 1316. Reporting.

Planning Director shall report all minor subdivision activity to Planning and Zoning Commission each month.

Section 3: Sketch Plat

Article X of the County's subdivision regulations are hereby repealed and replaced with the following provisions:

Article X – Sketch Plat

Section 1000. Purpose.

The purposes of the sketch plat are to:

- a. Ensure that improvements are well coordinated within and among individually platted parcels, sections, or phases of a development prior to approval of a preliminary plat; and
- b. Provide a cost-effective means to evaluate potential subdivision options and identify subdivision design and development issues early in the subdivision process.

Section 1001. Applicability.

- a. A sketch plat shall be required when an applicant is applying for the subdivision of less than the entire, contiguous land area held in common ownership. The sketch plat shall identify all contiguous land holdings of the applicant and establish a phasing plan for any subdivision involving multiple phases of development and any subdivision for which only a portion of the parent tract or a portion of contiguous holdings under common ownership are proposed to be platted. A sketch plat may be processed concurrently with a preliminary plat.
- b. A sketch plat is recommended for all major subdivisions. [discuss Kirk's edit]
- c. When not required by paragraph "a" of this section, an Applicant may seek sketch plat review by the Planning Director or the Planning and Zoning Commission to secure Commission assurance that a proposed subdivision is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.
- d. For optional sketch plats, the applicant may choose to apply for review and action by the Planning Director or the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Section 1002. Application.

A sketch plat application shall contain the following information, unless waived by the Planning or Engineering Director:

- a. Proof of Ownership Filed deed, vendor's lien, act of donation or tax assessment with legal description.
- b. Sketch Plat Copies of drawings at a scale of <u>1"= 100' or other reasonable</u> scale <u>for the proposed</u> <u>subdivision</u> approved by the Planning Director that include:
 - 1. The proposed subdivision name, which may not duplicate, or be similar to, any existing subdivision in the County, as determined by the Planning Director;
 - 2. The legal description of the property to be subdivided;
 - 3. A sketch of the entire tract to be subdivided showing boundaries at an appropriate scale that includes:
 - i. a location map at a scale of 1'' = 2,000' or other scale approved by the Director;
 - ii. locations of the public roads adjoining, providing access to or crossing the property;
 - iii. arrangement of proposed roads;
 - iv. easements for pipelines, utilities, drainage or other purposes, and other existing features affecting the proposed subdivision property;
 - v. proposed use or uses, amount and intensity of uses for each development area; and
 - vi. locations of existing and proposed water bodies and drainage conveyances; and
 - vi.vii. special flood hazard areas, wetlands and other environmentally sensitive areas.
- 4. For multi-phased developments, the phasing schedule for development of subareas, describing the location, sequencing and timing of infrastructure improvements and lot development for subareas of an overall proposed subdivision.
 - a. Signed Application by the applicant or authorized agent. A property owner authorized agent requires an affidavit giving permission to sign the application.

b. Additional Documentation – Additional text and/or maps provided to demonstrate consistency with the approval criteria.

Section 1003. Review of Sketch Plats by Development Review Committee and Planning Director.

The Planning Director shall review the application and shall determine if the application is complete pursuant to the provisions of sections 403 and 404. Upon finding that the application is complete and consulting with the Engineering Director, the Planning Director shall forward the application to the Development Review Committee for review and comment. Following this review, the Planning Director shall make written findings and recommendations, including but not limited to:

- a. Whether the proposed subdivision is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.
- b. Whether the proposed subdivision is in substantial compliance with adopted subdivision and zoning regulations.
- c. Whether the phasing plan enables each phase to be developed in an efficient manner and ensures that each phase will be capable of meeting the County's minimum standards for development.
- d. What changes would be required to bring the plat into compliance with adopted standards.
- e. Documenting subsequent steps required to secure subdivision approval.
- f. Suggested design modifications that will make the subdivision function better.

Section 1004. Effect of Review by Planning Director.

Review by the Planning Director does not assure subsequent development approvals. Subsequent applications that are consistent with the findings and recommendations of the Planning Director shall be considered consistent with the comprehensive plan's land use and transportation recommendations to the extent demonstrated on the sketch plat.

Section 1005. Review of Sketch Plans by Planning and Zoning Commission.

If sketch plat review by the Planning and Zoning Commission is requested by the applicant, the Planning Director shall schedule a hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission. The Planning Director shall provide the Commission with a copy of the application and the Director's findings and recommendations. After reviewing the application at a public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall:

- a. Determine the application's consistency with the Comprehensive Plan for land uses, intensity, and general road layout;
- b. Review and comment on compliance with subdivision and zoning standards; and
- c. Review and comment on the proposed phasing plan for multi-phase developments.

Section 1007. Effect of Approval of Sketch Plats by Planning and Zoning Commission.

- a. Approval of a sketch plat constitutes acceptance of the type, density and intensity of development indicated on the plat as being consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; the classification and arrangement of roads indicated; the proposed phasing plan; and the nature of utility service proposed.
- b. The approval of the sketch plat shall not expire as long as the development proceeds in accordance with the phasing plan. At such time as the Development lags one (1) year behind the approved phasing plan, or a period of one (1) year elapses without approval of a Preliminary

- Plat, Sketch Plat approval shall expire. Upon receipt of a written request, the Planning Director may approve a twelve (12) month extension upon finding that conditions in the County and vicinity of the development do not necessitate changes to the approved Sketch Plat.
- c. Sketch plat approval does not ensure approval of a preliminary plat involving a substantially different concept or failing to meet specific requirements of applicable rules and regulations, and approval does not comprise any vesting of development rights or any assurance that permits of any kind will be issued.

Section 4: Construction Plans and Preliminary Plats

Articles IX and XI of the County's subdivision regulations are hereby repealed and replaced with the following provisions:

Article XI - Preliminary Plats and Construction Plans

Section 1100. Applicability.

Preliminary plat approval is required prior to approval of a final plat for any subdivision other than a minor subdivision as established in Article XIII. Construction plan approval is required prior to approval of a final plat, major clearing, grading or filling, or construction of site improvements.

Section 1101. Purposes of Preliminary Plat

- a. The preliminary plat serves as a guide to future density, intensity, land uses, pedestrian and bicycle ways, trails, parks and open space, as well as lot, road and drainage patterns. It is intended to ensure that a landowner investigates the broad effects that subdivision of property will have on the site itself as well as on adjacent properties and public infrastructure systems.
- b. Approval of a preliminary plat shall constitute acceptance of the land-use mix, development intensity, general road patterns, drainage patterns, lot patterns, parks and open space lands, and the general layout of pedestrian and bicycle trails, provided that these factors may be modified in conjunction with subsequent approvals if additional information reveals development constraints that are not evident during preliminary plat review.
- c. The preliminary plat, together with the attendant items required herein, is to provide a basis for the construction of the subdivision and its improvements as well as a draft of the final plat of the subdivision. To achieve this, the applicant should consult with the Planning Director, Engineering Director and other agencies concerned with the subdivision and the improvements.

Section 1102. Application for Preliminary Plat Approval and Staff Review.

- a. **Process Overview**. The approval process and typical timing Preliminary Plat approval are summarized in Exhibits 1102-1 and 1102-2. Actual timing may vary based on the date of submittal and scheduled hearing dates.
- b. **Application**. The applicant shall file a completed preliminary plat application with the Planning Director and shall comply with the requirements established in Appendix A.
- c. **Completeness Review**. The Planning Director shall review the application and shall determine if the application is complete pursuant to the provisions of sections 403 and 404 herein.
- d. **Notice**. Following the Planning Director's determination that the application is complete, the applicant shall provide the following notice:
 - 1. **Mailed Notice**. Mail notice of the date, time, location and topic of a public hearing on the lot split or conveyance plat to the owners of all parcels located within 300 feet as measured

- from the nearest property line to the nearest property line. If the subdivision triggers the requirement for a traffic impact analysis pursuant to article XV of the subdivision regulations notice shall be required to be mailed to all properties located within 600 feet of the proposed subdivision.
- 2. **Posted Notice**. At least one (1) Sign shall be posted at least fourteen (14) days prior to the hearing in conspicuous places visible from each street along the frontage of the subject property. Signs shall be in a form approved by the Planning Director with the words "Subdivision Decision" in six (6) inch tall lettering and the planning department phone number clearly legible from the street.
- 3. **Published Notice**. Publish notice in a newspaper of general circulation within Bryan County in the public notices section at least 15 days, but not more than 45 days prior to the hearing. mail notice of the date, time, location and topic of a public hearing on the preliminary plat to the owners of all parcels located within 300 feet as measured from the nearest property line to the nearest property line. If the subdivision triggers the requirement for a traffic impact analysis pursuant to article XV of the subdivision regulations notice shall be required to be mailed to all properties located within 600 feet of the proposed subdivision.
- e. **Staff Review and Recommendation**. Upon finding that the application is complete, the Planning Director shall forward copies of the preliminary plat to the Development Review Committee and other reviewing entities, who shall evaluate the application. The Planning Director shall then prepare a report making findings and recommendations on the application's compliance with the criteria established in section 1103 herein.

Exhibit 1101-1: Preliminary Plat Approval Process Summary

| Preliminary Plat Process | |
|---|--|
| Application, Review and Notice | |
| Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing & Recommendation | |
| Board of County Commissioners Public Hearing & Decision | |

Exhibit 1101-2: Timing

| Preliminary Plat Timing | | |
|---|--|--|
| Completeness Review | 5 business days (from Application Submittal) | |
| P&Z Commission Hearing | 30-45 days after Completeness Certification | |
| P&Z Commission Recommendation | Within 30 days (from P&Z Commission Public Hearing) | |
| Board of County Commissioners Public Hearing | Within 30 days (from P&Z Commission Decision) | |
| Board of County Commissioners (includes CUP approval) | Within 30 days (from Board's Public Hearing) | |

Section 1103. Review Criteria.

Each of the following criteria must be satisfied prior to preliminary plat approval.

- a. The application is consistent with the approved sketch plat, if applicable.
- b. The application is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, as well as any other adopted plans for roads, alleys, trails, parks, playgrounds, and public utility facilities;
- c. The proposed subdivision complies with applicable County, state and federal regulations;
- d. The proposed subdivision, including its lot sizes, density, access, and circulation, is compatible with the existing and/or permissible zoning and future land use of adjacent property;
- e. The proposed subdivision will not have detrimental impacts on the safety or viability of permitted uses on adjacent properties; and
- f. The proposed public facilities are adequate to serve the normal and emergency demands of the proposed development, and to provide for the efficient and timely extension to serve future development.
- g. That the subdivision design provides adequate amenities and connectivity to roads, sidewalks and trails.
- h. That utilities for all major subdivisions are placed underground.

Section 1104. Planning and Zoning Commission Hearing, Deliberation and Action.

Within 30 days of the Planning Director's determination of completion, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing on the application. Following the hearing, the Commission shall deliberate the application's compliance with the criteria established in section 1103 and shall recommend that the Board of County Commissioners approve, conditionally approve or disapprove the preliminary plat application.

Section 1105. Board of County Commissioners Deliberation and Action.

The Board of County Commissioners shall conduct a public hearing on the application. Following the closing of the public hearing and deliberation, the Board may approve, approve with conditions or disapprove the application.

Section 1106. Effect of Board of County Commissioner Action.

- a. Approval constitutes the finding that the plat complies with the County's subdivision and zoning regulations and that a final plat that is consistent with the terms of approval and will be approved.
- b. The preliminary plat governs the preparation of construction plans and the final subdivision plat, which must be submitted for approval and recordation upon fulfillment of the requirements of this chapter.
- c. The approval is valid so long as the applicant receives and maintains a valid subsequent development approval or initiates construction within two (2) years of the preliminary plat approval. If development has not been initiated within two (2) years of preliminary plat approval, any changes in development standards shall apply to the development proposed by the preliminary plat.
- d. If a final plat is not submitted within two (2) years after approval of the preliminary plat, or within such extended period as may be allowed, the preliminary plat approval shall be void. The

Board may approve a staging plan extending the effective period of the preliminary plat approval for up to five (5) years where it is the intent of the landowners to proceed to final plats covering only a portion of the site at any one time. Beyond two (2) years or, in the case of staged development, five (5) years, the applicant shall resubmit a preliminary plat to the Planning Director for review by staff and the referral agencies to ensure that the application is still in compliance with Bryan County and other applicable agency requirements.

- e. After the expiration of two (2) years following approval of a preliminary plat, changes to the preliminary and final plats may be required where a change in the Comprehensive Plan or applicable rules and regulations has occurred. The applicant may make the necessary changes and then proceed to a final plat or may choose to resubmit the preliminary plat for review through the normal development approval review process.
- f. Approval of the preliminary plat by the Board shall not be deemed final approval of the overall subdivision.

Section 1107. Amendments to an Approved Preliminary Plat.

Amendments to a preliminary plat shall be approved in the following manners:

- a. **Minor Amendments**. Minor amendments may be approved by the Planning Director without filing a new Preliminary Plat. Minor amendments include the following:
 - 1. Changes in the internal alignment of roads that do not affect external properties or connectivity;
 - 2. Changes in internal lot boundaries that do not abut external property lines provided that all lots comply with minimum area and dimensional requirements;
 - 3. Changes in setbacks along internal property lines;
 - 4. Changes in the routing of trails and pedestrian ways;
 - 5. Changes to the location or boundaries of open spaces that do not reduce the total area or function of the open spaces;
 - 6. Adjustments in easements, utilities or drainage improvements identified as necessary during the preparation of construction plans; or
 - 7. Changes in the orientation of buildings on internal Parcels.
- b. **Exclusions**. Minor plat amendment shall not include any of the following:
 - 1. Changes in permitted uses;
 - 2. Increased intensity of use as measured by the number of dwelling units or square feet of nonresidential building area;
 - 3. Increased trip generation or demand for public utilities;
 - 4. Decreased public or private open space area; or
 - 5. Increased volume or velocity of stormwater runoff from the Development.
- c. **Major Amendments**. Plat amendments not categorized as minor amendments in the above paragraphs require the filing, deliberation of a new preliminary plat for review, deliberation and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Board of County Commissioners. Such amendments may be processed concurrently with a final plat application at the option and risk of the applicant.

Section 1108. Purpose of Construction Plans.

Construction plans ensure that public improvements associated with private developments are consistent with the County's design standards and that improvements are documented in a way that facilitates the long-term management and enhancement of public infrastructure.

Section 1109. Applicability.

Prior to review of a final plat, the applicant shall have prepared, by a professional engineer registered in the State of Georgia, plans consisting of complete construction drawings and specifications of all easements, roads, traffic control devices, streetlights, sanitary sewers, stormwater facilities, water system facilities, sidewalks, trails and other improvements required by this chapter. Landscape plans shall be prepared by a Registered Landscape Architect.

Section 1110. Application for Construction Plan Approval.

- a. **Pre-submittal.** A pre-submittal conference with the Engineering Director is recommended.
- b. **Submittals**. Complete construction plan applications shall be submitted to the Engineering Director for review and approval. The application shall comply with the requirements established in Appendix A. In addition to review fees established in Appendix B, the Engineering Director may require payment of an escrow to cover the costs of plan review by the County's engineering consultants in accordance with section 700 of this chapter.
- c. **Completeness Review**. The Engineering Director shall review the application and shall determine if the application is complete pursuant to the provisions of sections 403 and 404 of this chapter.

Section 1111. County Engineer Review and Action.

- a. **Review**. The Engineering Directorapplicant shall submit the construction plans to all applicable local, State and Federal reviewing agencies and public utility companies that will service the subdivision. The Engineering Directorapplicant shall incorporate forward comments from those agencies into the plans and submit to the applicant along with the County's comments to the applicantalong with all permits as part of the initial application.
- b. **Action**. Subject to comments from other reviewers, tThe Engineering Director shall approve, conditionally approve, approve with conditions or disapprove the construction plan application within forty-five (45) days of a determination of completeness based on the application's compliance with County Public Improvements the Bryan County code and Design Manual requirements, conditions of preliminary plat approval and other applicable rules and regulations.
- c. Deviation from Public ImprovementsBryan County Design Manual. The The applicant's engineer may make a written request and the Engineering Director may authorize deviations design waivers from the specific requirements of the Public Improvements Design Manual upon finding that the deviation will result in a design that is equivalent to or better than the specified standard when considering the function, durability, maintenance, repair, and replacement costs associated with the specified improvement. The written request shall reference the specific section from which relief is being sought as well as alternatives being proposed. The request shall include all documentation and dated needed to support the request. The Engineering Director shall have five (5) business days to respond to the request.

Section 1112. Effect of Approval.

a. Construction plan approval grants the right to initiate construction, grading, filling, major clearing and other development activities specifically referenced in the approved construction plans. Except upon the written approval of the Engineering Director, no grading, removal of trees or other vegetation other than the minimum required to complete necessary survey work, land

filling, construction of improvements, or other material change, except for purposes of aiding in preparation of final engineering drawings or plans, shall commence on the subject property until the Applicant has:

- 1. Entered into a Subdivision Improvement Agreement with the County or otherwise arranged for completion of all required improvements;
- Received approval of the Construction plans and all necessary permits from the Engineering Director; and
- 3. Obtained necessary approvals and permits from other affected agencies.
- b. The applicant shall complete improvements and secure final inspections and acceptance of improvements within twenty-four (24) months. Prior to expiration of construction plan approval, the applicant may apply to the Engineering Director for an extension of up to twelve (12) months. The Director may approve the extension of the approval or require modification of the plans to meet any changes to requirements of the Public Improvements Design Manual or other applicable requirements.
- c. Expired plans may be resubmitted as a new application and will be subject to applicable regulatory changes to rules and regulations since the initial application.

Section 1113. Appeals to County Engineer Action.

If an applicant believes that the Engineering Director has erred in any finding or condition of approval or disapproval, the applicant may appeal the decision to the County Administrator in writing, specifying the reasons for the appeal and providing technical justification supporting the appeal. The County Administrator shall approve, conditionally approve or disapprove the appeal within thirty (30) days of its submittal.

Section 1114. Subdivision Improvement Agreements.

- a. **Applicability**. The County Administrator may waive the requirement for the completion of required improvements prior to action on the final plat if the applicant enters into a subdivision improvement agreement by which the applicant covenants and agrees to complete all required on- and off-site public improvements no later than two (2) years following the date upon which the final plat is recorded. Such period may be extended for up to an additional twelve (12) months upon its expiration at the discretion of the County Administrator.
- b. **Dedication Required**. If the applicant chooses to phase a subdivision or enter into a subdivision improvement agreement in lieu of completing all required improvements, the Board of County Commissioners may require the applicant to dedicate land or complete and dedicate some required public improvements prior to approval of the final plat.
- c. **Preparation of Agreement**. The applicant shall bear the responsibility to prepare a subdivision improvement agreement. The County Attorney shall approve any subdivision improvement agreement as to form.
- d. **Covenants to Run with the Land**. The subdivision improvement agreement shall provide that the covenants contained therein shall run with the land and bind all successors, heirs, and assignees of the applicant. The subdivision improvement agreement shall be recorded with the register of deeds. All existing lien holders shall be required to subordinate their liens to the covenants contained in the subdivision improvement agreement.
- e. Security for Improvements Subject to Subdivision Improvement Agreement

- 1. Whenever the County Administrator permits an applicant to enter into a subdivision improvement agreement, the applicant shall be required to provide sufficient security to ensure completion of the required public improvements.
- 2. The performance security shall be in an amount approved by the Engineering Official as reflecting one hundred and fifty (150) percent of the cost of the improvements in the approved construction plans and shall be sufficient to cover all promises and conditions contained in the subdivision improvement agreement.
- 3. In addition to all other security, when the County participates in the cost of an improvement, the applicant shall provide a performance bond from the contractor, with the County as a co-obligee.
- 4. The County Administrator is authorized to sign the agreement on behalf of the County after the County Attorney has approved same as to form.
- f. **Type of Security**. The security shall be in the form of a performance bond, a letter of credit, cash, or cash escrow as follows:
 - 1. Performance Bond. A performance bond shall be executed by a surety company licensed to do business in the state in an amount equal to the cost estimate, as approved by the Engineering Director, of all uncompleted and unaccepted improvements required by these regulations (other than gas, telecommunications and electric lines), with the condition that the applicant shall complete such improvements and have them accepted by the County within three two (32) years from the date of plat approval. The Engineering Director may sign the bond instrument on behalf of the County, and the County Attorney shall approve same as to form.
 - 2. **Letter of Credit**. The applicant shall provide an irrevocable letter of credit in an amount equal to the cost estimate, as approved by the Engineering Director, of all uncompleted and unaccepted site improvements (other than gas and electric lines) required by these regulations.
 - 3. Cash or Cashier's Check. The applicant shall provide to the County cash or a cashier's check in an amount equal to the cost estimate as approved by the Engineering Official Director of all uncompleted and unacceptable site improvements (other than gas and electric lines) required by these regulations. Upon completion of the required site improvements and their acceptance by the Engineering Director, the amount will be refunded to the applicant by the County.
 - 4. Cash Escrow. If security is provided in the form of a cash escrow, the applicant shall deposit with the Engineering Director a cash amount or certified check endorsed to the escrow agent for a face value in an amount of at least the amount specified by the Engineering Director. Interest from a surety bond or cash escrow account shall accrue to the County for administering the construction, operation, and maintenance of the improvements.

g. Reduction of Guarantees.

 When an applicant has given security in any of the forms provided herein, and when fifty (50) percent of the required site improvements have been completed and accepted by the Engineering Director, or whenever any segment or segments of the required site improvements have been completed and accepted by the Engineering Director, the applicant may substitute for the original guarantee a new guarantee in an amount equal to one

- hundred and fifty (150) percent of the cost of the remaining site improvements. The cost estimate shall be approved by the Engineering Director.
- 2. Such new guarantee need not be in the same form as the original guarantee so long as such guarantee is one that is listed herein. However, in no event shall the substitution of one security for another in any way change or modify the terms and conditions of the performance agreement or the obligation of the applicant as specified in the subdivision improvement agreement.

2.3. Only one guarantee reduction shall be allowed during the course of the project.

h. **Reimbursement.** Where oversized facilities are required, the subdivision improvement agreement shall specify a reimbursement procedure.

Section 1115. Resubmittal and Amendments.

If the Applicant chooses to make minor modifications in design and/or specifications during construction, such changes shall be made at the applicant's own risk, but only with the written approval of the Engineering Director. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to notify the Engineering Director in advance of any changes to be made from the approved drawings. In the event that actual construction work deviates from that shown on the approved construction plans and such deviation was not approved in advance by the Engineering Director, the applicant may be required to correct the installed improvements to conform to the approved construction plans. In addition, the County may take such other actions as may be deemed appropriate including, but not limited to, revocation of plat approval and/or permits already issued and/or withholding of future approvals and permits.

Section 1116. Construction of Improvements.

All improvements required pursuant to these regulations shall be constructed in accordance with the applicable requirements herein and, where applicable, the requirements and authorization of the appropriate state agency, utility company or local franchisee.

Section 1117. As-Built Plans Required.

- a. **Required Drawings**. Prior to final inspection of the required improvements, the Applicant shall submit to the Engineering Director one (1) digital copy and one (1) reproducible copy of as-built engineering drawings for each of the required improvements that have been completed. The reproducible drawings shall be certified by the applicant's engineer indicating the date when the as-built survey was made. A landscape architect registered to practice in Georgia may seal landscape plans and the designs of erosion control measures. Digital copies are for the County's infrastructure management purposes only and the engineer shall bear no liability for the use and modification of the digital files.
- b. **Control Points**. As-built drawings and digital files shall be produced in accordance with the County's latest GIS standards and shall include all control points using state plane coordinates and monuments.

Section 1118. Completion of Improvements.

a. **Completion of Improvements Required**. Except as provided herein, improvements shall be completed or assured prior to recording the Final Plat, to the satisfaction of the Engineering Director. The required improvements shall be those specified in the approved preliminary plat and construction plans. Unless otherwise approved and assured, sidewalks shall be completed at the time of road construction. A letter from the project engineer of record certifying completion of all improvements in substantial conformance with all approval documents shall be provided.

b. Required Conveyances. As a condition of final plat approval, the Board of County Commissioners may require the applicant to deposit in escrow a deed describing by metes and bounds and conveying to the County all road rights-of-way, easements and public land required by these regulations, pending acceptance of improvements by the County and recordation of the final plat. In the event the applicant is unable to complete the required improvements, and such improvements are deemed necessary for the preservation of the public health and safety, the County may compel the delivery of the deed to complete the improvements as required.

Section 1119. Inspection of Improvements.

- a. **Inspection Required**. All improvements required by these regulations shall be inspected by the Engineering Director, except for improvements made under the jurisdiction of other public agencies, in which case engineers or inspectors of such agency will make the necessary inspections. Where inspections are made by other agencies, the Applicant shall provide the County with written reports of each final inspection.
- b. **Inspection Schedule**. It shall be the responsibility of the Applicant to notify the Engineering Director of the commencement of construction of improvements twenty-four (24)a minimum of forty-eight (48) hours prior thereto.
- c. Compliance with Standards. The Applicant or the bonded construction contractor shall bear full and final responsibility for the installation and construction of all required improvements according to the provisions of these regulations and the standards and specifications of other public agencies.

Section 1120. Acceptance of Improvements.

- a. Approval Final approval of the installation and construction of improvements by the Board of County Commissioners Engineering Director shall be required prior to the recording of the final Plat shall constitute acceptance by the County of the improvement for dedication purposes.
- b. The County shall not have any responsibility with respect to any road, or other improvement, notwithstanding the use of the same by the public, unless the road or other improvements shall have been accepted by the Board of County Commissioners recording of the final plat.
- c. When improvements have been constructed in accordance with the requirements and conditions of these regulations and the specifications of the County, and the applicant has submitted as built reproducible copiesall required information to the Engineering Director for approval, the Planning Director shall proceed with recording the final plat. , the County Administrator shall recommend that the Board of County Commissioners accept the dedications and improvements for maintenance by the County. This shall not apply to improvements maintained by another entity. [discuss]
- e.d. All subdivisions, regardless of size, muts the recorded in plat form. Deed descriptions may be submitted as supporting documentation to the plat at the owner's discretion.

Section 1123. Site Cleanup Required.

The applicant shall be responsible for removal of all equipment, material, and general construction debris from the subdivision and from any lot, road, public way or property therein or adjacent thereto. Dumping of such debris into sewers, onto adjacent property or onto other land in the County is prohibited.

Section 1124. Failure to Complete Improvements.

If no subdivision improvement agreement has been executed and no security has been posted, the failure to complete all required public improvements within the period specified by the County shall result in expiration of plat approvals. If a subdivision improvement agreement has been executed and security has been posted and required public improvements are not installed pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the County may:

- Declare the subdivision improvement agreement to be in default and require that all public improvements be installed regardless of the extent of completion of the development at the time the agreement is declared to be in default;
- b. Suspend final plat approval until the public improvements are completed and record a document to that effect for the purpose of public notice;
- c. Obtain funds pursuant to the surety and complete the public improvements by itself or through a third party;
- d. Assign its right to receive funds pursuant to the surety in whole or in part to any third party, including a subsequent owner of the subdivision or addition for whom the public improvements were not constructed, in exchange for the subsequent owner's agreement to complete the required public improvements; and/or
- e. Exercise any other rights available under the law.

Section 1125. Maintenance Bond Required Bonding Requirements.

[discuss]

- a. The applicant shall guarantee the improvements against defects in workmanship and materials for a period of three (3) years from the date of acceptance of such improvements.
- b. In exceptional situations, where undue hardship would otherwise result and the shorter term would be consistent with the purposes of this Chapter, the County Administrator may recommend and the Board of County Commissioners may approve a shorter-term maintenance guarantee.
- c. The maintenance guarantee shall be secured by a performance bond or cash escrow in an amount reflecting fifteen (15) percent of the cost of the completed improvements.
- d. If the applicant has entered into a subdivision improvement agreement for the completion of required improvements, an appropriate percentage of the performance bond or cash escrow may be retained by the County in lieu of a maintenance bond.
- e. If the applicant has not entered into a subdivision improvement agreement, the applicant shall guarantee the improvements as required by this section.
- f. The applicant shall construct and pay for all costs of temporary improvements required by the Engineering Director and shall maintain said temporary improvements for the period specified.

Section 1126. Development Agreements.

- a. **Purpose**. This section promotes and facilitates orderly and planned growth and Development through the provision of certainty in the development approval process by the County and through corresponding assurances by developers. The development agreement is intended to:
 - 1. Implement the capital improvements program and the conditions of development approval
 - 2. Eliminate uncertainty in the development approval process;

- 3. Assure applicants that, upon approval of their project, they may proceed in accordance with the policies, rules, and regulations identified in the development agreement;
- 4. Achieve the County's goals and objectives through assurances that public facilities will be provided concurrent with development;
- 5. Provide a mechanism to allow regulatory flexibility for specific development proposals that achieve the County's goals and objectives;
- b. **Applicability**. This section applies to any Development Agreement entered into between an Applicant and the County to:
 - 1. Enforce a condition of development approval;
 - 2. Recognize the existence of vested rights;
 - 3. Facilitate the reasonable phasing of large-scale developments requiring significant infrastructure investment;
 - 4. Provide for the provision of infrastructure, design amenities, or other conditions; and/or
 - 5. Resolve potential legal disputes.
- c. **Criteria for Entering into Development Agreements**. The Board of County Commissioners may approve a development agreement pursuant to this section only if it finds that:
 - 1. The development to which the development agreement pertains is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and capital improvements program, this chapter and other applicable requirements;
 - 2. The development subject to the agreement advances the County's adopted goals, objectives and policies, in accordance with the criteria established herein;
 - The applicant agrees to make contributions of capital improvements for community facilities for one or more types of public improvements, that advance provision of facilities needed to serve the community.
- d. **Initiation**. An application for a Development Agreement may be made to the Planning Director. Application may be made by any person having a legal or equitable interest in the subject real property in accordance with State Law. If made by the holder of an equitable interest, the application shall be accompanied by a verified title report and by a notarized statement of consent to proceed with the proposed Development Agreement executed by the holder of the legal interest.
- e. **Mandatory Provisions**. The Development Agreement shall include, at a minimum, provisions pertaining to the following:
 - 1. The land that is the subject of the agreement;
 - 2. The duration of the agreement;
 - 3. The permitted land use or uses and density/intensity for the proposed development and any conditions attached thereto;
 - 4. Proposed infrastructure improvements and the timing of their installation;
 - 5. Provisions for the dedication of land for public use, whether by easement, right-of-way or fee simple conveyance; and

- 6. Any other provisions required by State Law.
- f. **Optional Provisions**. If agreed to by the applicant and approved by the Board of County Commissioners, the development agreement may include, without limitation, provisions pertaining to the following:
 - The phasing of the proposed development project in coordination with the provision of public facilities, including, but not limited to, roads, water, sewer, drainage, parks, municipal, and other facilities, required to accommodate the impacts of the proposed Development project on such facilities at the County;
 - 2. The identification of public facilities to be dedicated, constructed, or financed by the developer pursuant to the development agreement and the designation of such facilities as project improvements, system improvements, or subsystem improvements;
 - The determination of the development project's proportionate share of the total system and subsystem improvement costs required to be dedicated, constructed, or financed by the developer of the Development project;
 - 4. The County's share of the costs of system and subsystem improvements to be dedicated, constructed, or financed pursuant to the development agreement;
 - 5. Reimbursements, as applicable, to the owner of the subject property for the amount of any contributions for system or subsystem improvements in excess of the proportionate share of the benefit derived from such facility by the subject property;
 - 6. The rules, regulations, ordinances, laws, plans, and official policies of the County governing Development applicable to the subject property; and
 - 7. If the property to which the Development Agreement relates is located outside the incorporated area of the County, the period of time within which each property shall be annexed to the County.
- g. Completeness Review. Upon submission of an application for a Development Agreement, the County Administrator shall coordinate the review of the application and accompanying documentation for legal sufficiency, compliance with technical requirements, consistency with the adopted Comprehensive Plan and applicable rules, regulations, and policies. Upon satisfactory completion of such review, the Planning Director shall provide required notice and place the matter on the agenda of the Board of County Commissioners for a hearing at the Council's next regularly scheduled meeting. If the application for development agreement is incomplete or legally insufficient, the Planning Director shall notify the applicant by certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, within fourteen (14) days after the date of submission of such application. Said notifications shall detail the specific grounds for rejection of the application. The applicant may resubmit at any time.
- h. **Board of County Commissioners Public Hearing and Action**. Within thirty (30) days of the certification of completeness, the Application shall be submitted to the Board of County Commissioners, which shall consider the proposed development agreement at the public hearing on the date set for said hearing or on the date or dates to which such hearing may be continued from time to time. The Board of County Commissioners may:
 - 1. Approve the development agreement as recommended by the County Administrator;
 - 2. Approve the development agreement with modifications; or

- 3. Reject the development agreement in whole or in part, and take such further action as it deems to be in the public interest. Any such action shall be taken by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the voting members of the Board of County Commissioners.
- Execution of Development Agreement. If approved by the Board of County Commissioners, the
 development agreement shall become effective upon execution by the County Administrator
 and any other parties to the development agreement.

i. Recordation.

- 1. **Notice.** Within ten (10) days following rejection of a development agreement, the County Clerk shall give notice of such action to the applicant at the address shown on the application and to the Planning Director.
- 2. **Recordation of Agreement**. Within ten (10) days following execution of a development agreement, the County Clerk shall record with the recorder of deeds a fully executed copy of the development agreement. The agreement shall be binding upon, and the benefits of the agreement shall inure to the parties and all successors in interest to, the parties of the development agreement.
- k. Coordination of Development Agreement Application with Other Discretionary Approvals. It is the intent of these regulations that the application for a development agreement will be made and be considered simultaneously with the review of other necessary applications, including, but not limited to: rezoning; subdivision; planned unit development or conditional use permit. If combined with an application for development, the application for a development agreement shall be submitted with said application and shall be processed, to the maximum extent possible, jointly to avoid duplication of hearings and repetition of information. A development agreement is not a substitute for, nor an alternative to, any other required development approval, and the applicant must comply with all other required procedures for development approval.
- Existing and Subsequently Adopted Rules, Regulations, Ordinances, Laws, and Policies.
 - Unless otherwise provided by the development Agreement, rules, regulations, ordinances, laws, general or specific plans, and official policies of the County governing permitted uses, Development, density and intensity of use, permitted uses of the land, growth management, public facilities, environmental considerations, and governing design, improvement and construction standards and specifications applicable to the subject property shall be those in force and effect at the time of commencement of the term of the development agreement.
 - 2. The adoption of a development agreement, however, shall not prevent the County, in subsequent actions applicable to the property or to the County general, from applying such newer, modified rules, regulations, ordinances, laws and official policies that do not conflict with those applicable to the property at the time of the development agreement and that do not prevent the development of the land as set forth in the development agreement. The existence of the development agreement shall not prevent the county from denying or conditionally approving any subsequent development not expressly addressed in said agreement based upon such existing or new rules, regulations, and policies.
 - 3. Unless otherwise addressed in the agreement, application, processing and inspection fees, utility fees and improvement standards that are revised during the term of a development agreement shall apply to the property, provided that:

- i. Such fees, standards, and specifications generally apply to public works within the County; and
- ii. Their application to the subject property is prospective only as to applications for building and other development approvals not yet accepted for processing.
- m. **Subsequently Adopted State and Federal Laws**. In the event that state or federal laws or regulations are enacted following approval of a development agreement that prevent or preclude compliance with one or more provisions of the development agreement, the provisions of the agreement shall be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with such state or federal laws or regulations, and every such development agreement shall so provide.
- n. **Periodic Review, Termination, or Modification**. An adopted development agreement shall be reviewed at least every two (2) years, at which time the owner or owners of the property subject to the development agreement shall be required to demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of the development agreement. If, as a result of such review, the Board of County Commissioners finds and determines, on the basis of substantial evidence, that the applicant has not complied in good faith with the conditions of the development agreement, the Board of County Commissioners may unilaterally terminate or modify the agreement. Such action shall be taken by the Board of County Commissioners at a regular or special meeting, provided that the developer is notified at least ten (10) days in advance of such meeting.
- Amendment or Cancellation of Agreement. A development agreement may be amended or canceled, in whole or in part, by mutual consent of the parties to the agreement or their successors in interest. The procedure for amendment or cancellation shall be the same as that for adoption.
- p. **Enforcement**. A Development Agreement shall be enforceable by any party to the Agreement. The remedies specified herein and in the development agreement are not exclusive, and any party to the agreement may pursue any other available remedies at law or in equity.

Section 5: Final Plat

Article XII of the subdivision regulations is hereby repealed and replaced with the following provisions:

Article XII – Final Plat

Section 1200. Purpose.

To establish a process and standards to create and document the rights and responsibilities associated with the subdivision of land.

Section 1201. Applicability.

No final subdivision plat shall be recorded until a Final Plat has been approved as provided in this section or the provisions of Article XIII of the County Subdivision Regulations.

Section 1202. Application.

The Final Plat application shall be filed with the Planning Director in compliance with Appendix A. The approval process and typical timing for Final Plat approval are summarized in Exhibits 1202-1 and 1202-2. Actual timing may vary based on the date of submittal.

Exhibit 1202-1: Final Plat Approval Process Summary

| Final Plat Process | |
|---|--|
| Application, Review and Notice | |
| Planning Director Action | |
| Board of County Commissioners Action (required only if subdivision improvement or development agreement is proposed) | |

Exhibit 1202-2: Timing

| Final Plat Timing | | |
|--|---|--|
| Completeness Review | 5 business days (from Application Submittal) | |
| Planning Director and TRC Review/Action | 15 days (from Completeness Certification) | |
| Board of County Commissioner Action | 30 days (from Completeness Certification) | |

Section 1203. Planning Director Review and Action.

- a. The Planning Director shall review the application and shall determine if the application is complete pursuant to the provisions of sections 403 and 404 of this chapter.
- b. Upon finding that the application is complete the Planning Director shall determine whether the final plat complies with the approved preliminary plat and other applicable rules and regulations. The applicant may submit a final plat for only that portion of the approved preliminary plat, if such portion conforms to all requirements of this chapter. Any deviation from the approved preliminary plat that does not constitute a minor amendment shall require resubmittal of the preliminary plat, which may be reviewed concurrently with the final plat.
- c. The final plat shall conform to O.C.G.A. §15-6-67, as amended, known as "The Georgia Plat Act," any additional requirements as prescribed in this chapter, the "Required Items and Certifications" in appendix A, and other applicable rules and regulations.
- d. If all required public improvements are completed as determined by the Engineering Director prior to the application, the Planning Director shall review the Final Plat in accordance with paragraph e of this section.
- e. If any required public improvements are incomplete at the time of the application as determined by the Engineering Director, the applicant shall enter into a subdivision improvements agreement or development agreement pursuant to this article and Board of County Commissioners' approval shall be required.
- f. Any subdivision improvements dedicated to the County:
 - 1. Must be clearly noted on the final plat with the following statement: "The undersigned fee simple owner of all the real estate depicted on this plat, and identified as owned by the undersigned, does hereby dedicate and transfer to the Bryan County Board of

- Commissioners all roads, rights-of-way and necessarily attendant drainage facilities and easements for the roads, all as shown on this plat";
- 2. Must be covered by a fully executed warranty which is secured as required under section 902; and
- 3. Must be insured under a commitment from a title insurance company licensed to do business in the State of Georgia, committing such company to issue, at no cost to the county, a title insurance policy in an amount determined by the planning director to be the fair market value for real estate tax purposes of the real property portion of the subdivision improvements, insuring for the county, fee simple title, with no exceptions, to such subdivision improvements;
- g. Any private subdivision improvements:
 - 1. Must meet the requirements for private subdivision improvements under article XVII; and
 - 2. Must be covered by fully executed maintenance agreements or trust indentures which have been approved by the planning director.
- h. Unless hearings are required pursuant to the previous paragraphs, within fifteen (15) days of the certification of a complete application submittal, the Planning Director shall approve the final plat if:
 - 1. The application complies with this UDO and applicable state and federal rules and regulations, and
 - 2. The application is consistent with the conditions of prior planned unit development, preliminary plat, conditional zoning, or conditional use permit approvals.

Section 1204. Other Reviews.

In addition to the Planning Director's review of the final plat application, the Planning Director shall obtain the review of the final plat from the following individuals and departments:

- a. The health department or the EPD and the county engineer shall review the water supply and sewerage disposal system and determine that the water supply and sewerage disposal facilities have been constructed and completed in accordance with the approved construction plans and preliminary plat;
- b. The Engineering Director shall determine that all subdivision improvements required to be completed by this ordinance (except for water supply and sewerage disposal systems) have been so completed in accordance with the approved construction plans and preliminary plat;
- c. The Engineering Director shall determine the compliance of the final plat with the approved construction plans and preliminary plat and with this ordinance and other applicable laws and shall, upon request by the Planning Director, review and inspect the construction or installation of any subdivision improvements;
- d. If deemed necessary by the Planning Director, review and comment from consultants or other professionals retained by the county;

Section 1205. Board of County Commissioner Action.

If there are major amendments to the preliminary plat, the applicant proposes to guarantee completion of improvements through a subdivision improvements agreement, or the applicant proposes a

development agreement, then the final plat shall require review and approval by the Board of County Commissioners.

Section 1206. Effect of Approval.

- a. Where only a portion of an approved preliminary plat is submitted for final approval, a final plat of the remaining area may be submitted at any time within two (2) years of the preliminary plat approval or within the time frame consistent with the approved phasing plan.
- b. Applicants failing to complete construction and obtain final approval from the Board of County Commissioners within the specified time may submit a request for an extension of six (6) months. If an extension is granted, the final plat must be submitted within a total of thirty (30) months from the original date of approval of the preliminary plat by the Board of County Commissioners or within the time frame consistent with the approved phasing plan.
- c. If the final plat is not submitted within the time period prescribed above, the approval of the preliminary plat shall be rescinded. The applicant will be required to resubmit the application for preliminary plat and be subject to all fees related to the application. The preliminary plat shall comply with all current regulation in place at the time it is resubmitted.

Section 1207. Recording.

- a. Within five (5) days of the approval of the final plat, the Planning Director shall prepare and deliver to the applicant a statement indicating: (i) the cost to record tehe final plat and, if applicable, all deeds of dedication and easements; and (ii) the balance of any fees due to the County in connection with the proposed subdivision.
- b. Following approval of the final plat, the Planning Director shall secure necessary signatures to execute the plat. The action of the County shall be noted on all copies of the Final Plat to be retained as required for records or further action of the department or other affected agencies of the County or state. Within sixty (60) days of approval of the final plat, the applicant shall record it with the register of deeds. The Planning Director may grant up to two extensions of final plat approval, each up to six (6) months. Failure to record the final plat within the time frame noted shall cause the final plat approval to be void.

Section 1208. Amendments.

Amendments to a Final Plat shall be approved in the same manner as the original plat, except as otherwise provided for amending plats or replats herein.

Section 1209. Plat Approval Not Acceptance of Dedication Offer.

Approval of a plat does not constitute acceptance by the County of the offer of dedication of any roads, sidewalks, parks or other public facilities shown on a plat. However, the County may accept any such offer of dedication by resolution of the Board of County Commissioners or by actually exercising control over and maintaining such facilities.

Section 1210. Protection Against Defects.

Prior to Board of County Commissioners acceptance of improvements, the Engineering Director or a licensed professional retained by the applicant shall certify to the County that all facilities and improvements to be dedicated to the County have been constructed in accordance with the requirements of this chapter.

Section 1211. Maintenance of Dedicated Areas Until Acceptance.

All facilities and improvements with respect to which the applicant makes an offer of dedication to public use shall be maintained by the applicant until such offer of dedication is accepted.

Section 1212. Maintenance of Common Areas, Improvements and Facilities.

The applicant shall be responsible for maintaining all common areas, improvements or facilities required by this UDO except those areas, improvements or facilities with respect to which an offer of dedication to the public has been accepted by the appropriate public authority.

Section 6: Traffic Impact Assessment

Article XV of the subdivision regulations are hereby repealed and replaced with the following provisions:

Article XV – Traffic Impact Assessment

Section 1500. Types of Studies.

- a. Traffic Impact Analysis for projects having impacts on major roads, multiple roads, or multiple intersections.
- b. Traffic Design Analysis for projects having more localized impacts and focused on ingress, egress and abutting intersections.

Section 1501. Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) Purpose and Applicability.

- a. **Purposes**: The purposes of a TIA will be to:
 - 1. Evaluate traffic operations and impacts at site access points under projected traffic loads;
 - 2. Evaluate the impact of site-generated traffic on affected intersections in the impact area;
 - 3. Evaluate the impact of site-generated traffic on the quality of traffic flow on public roads located in the Impact area;
 - 4. Evaluate the impact of the proposed development on residential roads in the impact area;
 - 5. Ensure that site access and other improvements needed to mitigate the traffic impact of the development meet commonly accepted engineering design standards;
 - 6. Ensure that adequate facilities for pedestrians, transit users and bicyclists have been provided; and
 - 7. Identify transportation infrastructure needs and related costs created by the development and cost sharing for needed improvements.
- b. Applicability: A TIA will be required prior to approval of a Preliminary Plat, Zoning Map Amendment, or Conditional Use Permit for Development that exceeds the following thresholds in one or more development Applications submitted for a Parcel or contiguous Parcels under common ownership at the time of the adoption of this UDO or at the time of the Development application:
 - 1. The proposed development will generate more than 1,000 average daily trips at full occupancy, according to most current version of the ITE Trip Generation Informational Report or comparable research data approved by the Engineering Director; or
 - 2. The proposed development will concentrate three hundred (300) or more trips per day through a single access point.

Section 1502. Traffic Design Analysis (TDA) Purpose and Applicability.

All Development projected to generate two hundred (200) average daily trips more than existing conditions that does not require a TIA shall be required to complete a Traffic Design Analysis (TDA). The purposes of a TDA will be to:

- a. Ensure that the proposed road layout is consistent with adopted road design standards;
- b. Ensure the proper design and spacing of site access points and identify where limitations on access should be established;
- c. Ensure that potential safety problems have been properly evaluated and addressed;
- d. Ensure that internal circulation patterns will not interfere with traffic flow on existing public roads;
- e. Ensure that appropriate facilities for pedestrians, transit users and bicyclists have been provided in plans for the development; and
- f. Identify the transportation infrastructure needs and related costs created by the development.

Section 1503. Waiver.

County Engineer may waive requirements upon determining that the analysis is not necessary to determine that such report is not necessary to determine needed road improvements, that adequate capacity exists to serve the proposed development, and that no unsafe or hazardous conditions will be created by the development as proposed.

Section 1504. Preparation.

The cost of TIA or TDA preparation shall be the responsibility of the applicant. The applicant shall retain the services of a qualified traffic engineer approved by the Engineering Director. A TIA shall be sealed by a licensed professional engineer.

Section 1506. Traffic Level of Service Standards.

The standards for traffic service that shall be used to evaluate the findings of a TIA or TDA are:

- a. Level of Service. Level of Service D (LOS D) or less congested shall be maintained on all arterial and collector road segments and intersections. LOS C or less congested shall be maintained on all other road segments and intersections. For multi-phase developments, the applicable levels of service shall be maintained for each phase. No development shall result in the decline in the level of service of an adjacent road by more than two (2) letters (e.g., a drop from LOS A to LOS D) unless specifically approved by the Board of County Commissioners.
- b. Number of Access Points. The spacing of access points shall comply with applicable County, state and AASHTO standards.
- c. Internal Circulation. On-site vehicle circulation and parking patterns shall be designed so as not to interfere with the flow of traffic on any public road and shall accommodate all anticipated types of site traffic at projected volumes.
- d. Safety. Access points shall be designed to provide for adequate sight distance and appropriate facilities to accommodate acceleration and deceleration of site traffic pursuant to section 4.11.5.
- e. Curb Space Use Plan. Details shall be provided on curb space use on public roads along the edge of the development site when it is intended that such areas be used for parking, parking space access, delivery and loading zones, passenger zones, bus stops, fire zones and/or other official/emergency zones. This review shall include a description of existing conditions prior to development, and proposed changes resulting from the development, including a description of any loss or gain in curb space use by the activities intended.

Section 1507. Traffic Analysis Contents.

A TIA shall be based on peak hour traffic and shall contain information addressing the factors listed below.

- a. Project and Site Description. The analysis shall contain illustrations and narrative that describe the characteristics of the site and adjacent land uses as well as expected development in the Impact area that will influence future traffic conditions. A description of the proposed development including access plans, staging plans and an indication of land use and intensity, shall be provided.
- b. **Study Area**. The analysis shall identify the geographic area under study and identify the roadway segments, critical intersections and access points to be analyzed. The study shall include: all road segments, intersections and driveways on or within 150 feet of the site; all collector or arterial roads and road intersections within one-quarter (¾) mile of the site; and all arterial roads and intersections that the proposed development is projected generate five (5) percent or more of the peak hour traffic.
- c. **Existing Traffic Conditions**. The analysis shall contain a summary of the data used in the analysis of existing traffic conditions, including:
 - 1. Existing Demand, including traffic count and turning movement information, including the source of and date when traffic count information was collected;
 - 2. Roadway characteristics, including the design configuration of existing roadways, existing traffic control measures (speed limits, traffic Signals, etc.) and existing driveways and turning movement conflicts in the Impact area; and
 - 3. The existing LOS for roadways and intersections without project development traffic using methods documented in the Special Report 209: Highway Capacity Manual, published by the Transportation Research Board, or comparable accepted methods of evaluation. LOS shall be calculated for the weekday am and pm peak hours and, in the case of uses generating high levels of weekend traffic, the Saturday or Sunday peak hour as determined by the Engineering Director.
- d. Traffic Assignment. The TIA shall identify projected peak hour traffic volumes for applicable roadway segments, intersections and driveways in the study area. Applicable road segments, intersections and driveways and traffic distribution assumptions shall be identified by the Engineering Director prior to completion of the study. Projected trip generation shall be based on latest data from the ITE or other studies approved in writing by the Engineering Director. This section will document all assumptions affecting the direction, volume and mode split of traffic generated by the project.
- e. **Analysis**. The analysis shall be based on ten (10) and twenty (20) year projections. The analysis shall compare existing demand plus projected demand plus proposed demand with planned capacity for the applicable projections.
- f. Mitigation Alternatives. In situations where the LOS standards are projected to be exceeded, the analysis shall evaluate each of the following alternatives for achieving the traffic service standards:
 - 1. Identify additional right of way and road improvements needed to implement mitigation strategies;

- 2. Identify suggested phasing of development and transportation improvements where needed to maintain compliance with LOS standards;
- 3. Identify the anticipated cost of recommended improvements; and
- 4. For developments impacting constrained facilities, identify access, pedestrian, transit or other improvements required to mitigate the impacts of the proposed development on the constrained facility.
- g. **TDA Contents**. A TDA shall include the information required for a TIA, except as modified by the Engineering Director. The study area for a TDA shall include all road segments, intersections and driveways on or within 150 feet of the site.

Section 1508. Process for the Review and Preparation.

The following steps provide an outline of the steps to be included in the preparation and review of a traffic analysis:

- a. The applicant shall meet or correspond with the Engineering Director to determine whether a TIA or TDA needs to be prepared for a proposed development application, and to identify study issues, assumptions, projections and time periods to be analyzed, analysis procedures, available sources of data, past and related studies, report requirements and other topics relevant to study requirements. GDOT shall be contacted and coordinated with as appropriate when the TIA or TDA includes state or federal highways as points of access for a development.
- b. Following initial completion of a traffic study, the report shall be submitted to the Engineering Director for distribution to all jurisdictions involved in the construction and maintenance of public roadways serving the development. If direct access is being proposed to a State Highway, the applicant shall submit a highway access permit application to GDOT, if not previously submitted.
- c. Within five (5) business days, the Engineering Director shall complete an initial review to determine the completeness of the analysis and shall provide a written summary to the applicant outlining the need for any supplemental study or analysis to adequately address any deficiencies. A meeting to discuss the contents and findings of the report and the need for additional study may be requested by the Applicant. GDOT approval shall be required for any traffic mitigation involving the state system;
- d. Within thirty (30) days of submittal of a complete application, the Engineering Director shall prepare a report outlining recommendations that have been developed to address the findings and conclusions included in the analysis regarding the proposed Development's access needs and impacts on the transportation system. Depending on the type of application, the recommendations may be presented to the Planning Board and/or Board of County Commissioners.
- e. In the case of a TIA or TDA showing deficiencies requiring mitigation within the public right-of-way, negotiations based on the conclusions and finding resulting from the TIA or TDA shall be held with appropriate County staff. The subsequent development approval or, at the option of the applicant, a subdivision improvement agreement or development agreement, shall identify the applicant's and the County's responsibilities for implementing identified mitigation measures.

Section 1509. Findings.

If the proposed development will not meet applicable service level standards, Engineering Director shall recommend denial of the application unless the applicant submits a mitigation plan that, in the opinion of the Engineering Director, addresses the deficiency through one or more of the following actions:

- a. Reduce the size, scale, scope or density of the development to reduce traffic generation;
- b. Divide the project into phases and with only one phase at a time being authorized until traffic capacity is adequate for the next phase of development;
- c. Dedicate right-of-way for road improvements;
- d. Construct new road improvements;
- e. Expand the capacity of existing roads and/or intersections;
- f. Redesign ingress and egress to the project to reduce traffic conflicts;
- g. Alter the use and type of development to reduce peak hour traffic;
- h. Reduce background (existing) traffic;
- i. Eliminate the potential for additional traffic generation from undeveloped properties in the Impact area; or
- j. Integrate non-vehicular design components (e.g., pedestrian and bicycle paths or transit improvements) to reduce trip generation.

Section 7: Site Plan

A new Article XVII: Site Plan is hereby created as follows:

Article XVII - Site Plan

Section 1700. Purpose.

Site plan review is intended to ensure that the layout and general design of proposed development in areas regulated by this chapter complies with all applicable standards in this ordinance and all other applicable rules and regulations. The purpose of this section is to establish the submittal requirements and review process for the approval of site plans.

Section 1701. Types of Site Plans and Applicability.

- a. Small Site Development and Redevelopment Plan includes:
 - 1. Single family, duplex or accessory structure; or
 - 2. Modification to multifamily, mixed-use or non-residential development that does not trigger an increase in parking by more than the lesser of 10% of current requirement or 10 spaces.
- b. Major Site Development Plan includes:
 - Multi-family, mixed use or non-residential development, except as noted above;
 - 2. Development requiring conditional zoning or conditional use permit;
 - 3. Planned unit development rezoning application; or
 - 4. Rezoning to a R-3 or more intensive district.

Section 1702. Application.

- a. Applications for site plan review may be initiated by any party with an interest in developing property within areas regulated by this chapter. Written approval from the current landowner shall be required as part of any application for site plan review.
- b. The applicant or an authorized agent of the applicant shall submit to the Planning Director a complete Site Plan Submittal application.
- c. Except where otherwise required by this chapter, a licensed professional engineer is not required to certify a site plan. However, all site plans shall be prepared to scale and with sufficient detail and clarity to demonstrate compliance with applicable technical rules and regulations.
- d. Site plan applications shall, at a minimum, contain the materials listed in the Site Plan Checklist in Appendix A of this chapter.
- e. The Planning Director shall review the application and shall determine if the application is complete pursuant to the provisions of sections 403 and 404 of this chapter.

Section 1703. Approval Criteria.

All site plans shall comply with the following criteria:

- The proposed land uses, densities and intensities comply with applicable zoning district requirements and prior development approvals, including but not limited to variance, conditional zoning or conditional use permit;
- b. The site and building design comply with applicable standards in this chapter and the design guidelines adopted as part of this interim development ordinance;
- c. Minor deviations not granted through the administrative relief provisions of this chapter have been granted by the Planning Director and are noted on the site plan; and
- d. Required variances are granted prior to site plan approval.
- e. The applicant has applied for approval of ESA, land disturbance and wetlands permits, and will receive final approval prior to site plan approval.

Section 1704. Review of Site Plans.

After determining that the application is complete, the Planning Director shall solicit comments from the Development Review Committee and review the site plan for compliance with the criteria established in section 1703 of this chapter.

Section 1705. Action on Small Site Development and Redevelopment Plans.

If the application satisfies the criteria established in section 1703 of this chapter, the Planning Director shall approve small site development plan within twenty (20) days of certifying that the application is complete.

Section 1706. Appeals to Small Site Development and Redevelopment Plans.

If the applicant disagrees with the findings of the Planning Director, the applicant may appeal the decision in accordance with article V of this chapter.

Section 1707. Review and Action on Major Site Development Plans.

If a major site development plan complies with all of the provisions of this ordinance, including the approval criteria in section 1703, the Planning Director may approve the plan, approve the plan subject to conditions or disapprove the plan. For any major site development plan that deviates from the requirements of the zoning ordinance or the design guidelines adopted as part of this ordinance, the

Planning Director shall forward written findings and recommendations to the Planning and Zoning Commission for consideration along with and any other evidence presented at their hearing, the Commission may approve, approve with conditions or disapprove the major site development plan.

Section 1708. Notice for Major Site Development Plan Review.

If the Planning Director determines that a major site development plan does not comply with the criteria in section 1703 and the applicant seeks approval from the Planning and Zoning Commission, the applicant provide the following notice:

- a. **Mailed Notice**. Mail notice of the date, time, location and topic of a public hearing on the lot split or conveyance plat to the owners of all parcels located within 300 feet as measured from the nearest property line to the nearest property line. If the subdivision triggers the requirement for a traffic impact analysis pursuant to article XV of the subdivision regulations notice shall be required to be mailed to all properties located within 600 feet of the proposed subdivision.
- b. **Posted Notice**. At least one (1) Sign shall be posted at least fourteen (14) days prior to the hearing in conspicuous places visible from each street along the frontage of the subject property. Signs shall be in a form approved by the Planning Director with the words "Zoning Decision" in six (6) inch tall lettering and the planning department phone number clearly legible from the street.
- c. **Published Notice**. Publish notice in a newspaper of general circulation within Bryan County in the public notices section at least 15 days, but not more than 45 days prior to the hearing.

Section 1709. Appeals to Planning and Zoning Commission Action.

Actions of the Planning and Zoning Commission on a site plan may be appealed to the Board of County Commissioners.

Section 1710. Effect of Approval.

- a. Site plan approval authorizes issuance of a building permit subject to approval of building plans. If no building permit obtained within twelve (1) months or the building permit lapses, the site plan approval lapses.
- b. Development activities shall conform to the approved site plan and any conditions of approval. Any deviation from the approved site plan, unless approved in advance and in writing by the Planning Director is deemed a violation of this chapter.

Section 1711. Site Plan Amendments.

A site plan may be modified in accordance with the procedures and standards of this article, except that the following shall be considered minor amendments that may be approved by the Planning Director regardless of how the original site plan was approved:

- Relocation or reconfiguration of landscaping or modification of proposed plantings, if it does not diminish the effectiveness of the landscaping or reduce the size of plants at the time of planting or at the plant's maturity;
- b. Reconfiguration of parking lots or spaces that do not reduce the number of parking spaces or the safety of the parking lots;
- Realignment of trails or sidewalks on the site if the relocation improves the functionality or safety of the trail or sidewalk;
- d. Changes in the location of signs if the relocated sign still complies with adopted rules, guidelines or regulations.

e. Increases in open space or recreational areas, provided that lighted facilities shall not be located any closer to a property line abutting a residential district than shown on the approves site plan.

Section 8: Planned Unit Development (PUD)

Article 12 is hereby amended as follows:

Article XII – Planned Unit Development (PUD)

Section 1202.2. Permitted Land Uses within a PUD is hereby modified as follows:

2. All proposed land uses will be identified within the PUD application provided by the applicant. Land uses not included within the PUD application shall be permitted only as a conditional use through the approval of the Board of County Commissioners <u>unless the Planning Director finds that the use is substantially similar in intensity, character, and impacts to an approved use</u>.

Section 1206.5. Public Facilities and Services is hereby amended as follows:

5. Adequate public facilities and services. It is the responsibility of the applicant to predict the future demand of public facilities and services, including transportation, recreation, education, emergency services, and similar necessary facilities created by the development of the proposed PUD. All public facilities and services for which a need is determined shall be constructed and fully improved according to Bryan County regulations. A traffic impact assessment shall be provided by the applicant if the proposed development exceeds the traffic generation thresholds of Article XV of the Bryan County Subdivision Regulations.

Section 1209. Requirements for the PUD Application is hereby amended as follows:

- 1. The application, submitted in a form established by the planning director and made available to the public, shall contain the following information:
 - a. The name, address, and telephone number of the owner of record of the land proposed for development.
 - b. The name, address, and telephone number of the applicant, if different from the owner and an explanation of the difference.
 - c. The name, address, and telephone number of the agent for the application, if there is an agent.
 - d. The name, address, and telephone number of all land use, environmental, engineering, economic, or other professionals that are assisting in the application.
 - e. The road address and legal description of the land on which the PUD is proposed to occur, with attached copies of any instruments referenced, such as, but not limited to, deeds, plats, easements, covenants, and restrictions.
 - f. Evidence that the applicant has unified control of the land proposed for PUD zoning district classification.
 - g. A copy of the relevant Bryan County map and parcel number(s).
 - h. The date and legal description of the proposed PUD zoning district classification.
 - A written report which explains the type, nature, intent and characteristics of the proposed development and specifically describes the proposed standards for development, including restrictions on the use of property, density standards, lot size and restrictive covenants. Also

- include a list of the standards of development, which are exceptions or variations from the design standards of Bryan County subdivision regulations.
- j. A master plan, at a scale appropriate for a sheet no larger than 36 inches by 42 inches, that contains, but is not limited to, the following:
 - i. The proposed name or title of the development, and the name of the engineer, architect and applicant.
 - ii. A north arrow.
 - iii. A vicinity map locating the land proposed for development.
 - iv. The date and legal description of the proposed PUD zoning district classification.
 - v. Identification of the boundaries of the land shown with bearings, distances, and all existing easements, section lines, roads and physical features.
 - vi. The topography of the site at five-foot intervals.
 - vii. Existing marshes, natural drainage ways, flood plains and other natural features. Conceptual wetland locations or approximate delineations by a soil scientist or environmental scientist should also be shown.
 - viii. Conceptual drainage plan showing effect all phases will have on drainage after completion.
 - ix. Existing roads and easements.
 - x. The proposed parks, school sites or other public and private open space.
 - xi. The vehicular and pedestrian circulation systems, including off-street parking and loading areas, driveways, walkways and access points.
 - xii. The site data, including tabulation of the total number of gross acres in the development, the acreage to be devoted to each of the several types of residential, non-residential uses, and open space uses, the total number of residential non-residential lots, minimum lot size, setbacks, number of dwelling units and square feet of gross non-residential building area.
 - xiii. Designation of open space and any complementary structures, and the tabulation of the percent of the total area devoted to open space.
 - xiv. The general location, dimensions and character of construction of all proposed collector or arterial roadways shall be shown on the master plan. Additionally, all points of ingress and egress to a state or county roadway including driveways shall be indicated on the plan. Residential areas and structures, non-residential areas and structures, recreational areas and structures and open space shall also be shown.
 - xv. A delineation of specific areas within the master plan, which constitute the proposed development phases designating the general locations of planned land uses and the maximum density/intensity of residential and non-residential development and the proposed conceptual road layout on which the traffic impact assessment is based.different types of development i.e., residential, multifamily, recreation, commercial, public service, etc.
- k. Assurance that adequate public facilities and services will be available.
- I. A statement of how open space and recreational facilities will be preserved and maintained.

- m. A certificate of survey completed by a professional land surveyor registered in the State of Georgia certifying the plat.
- n. Proposed architectural and landscape deed restrictions that clearly reflect the compatibility of the variety of primary and secondary uses proposed.
- o. A development schedule.
 - i. Delineating areas to be developed according to their order of construction.
 - ii. Proposing dates for beginning and completing construction of each development phase.
 - iii. Proposing a schedule for the construction and improvement of open space, roads, public facilities, utilities, and any other necessary improvements for each development phase.
- p. A calculation of the number of average daily and peak hour trips produced by the proposed PUD will access a collector, arterial or scenic parkway and will produce 1,500 or more new vehicle trip ends, a traffic analysis shall be submitted by the applicant for review by the county engineer. The analysis shall demonstrate the impact of the development on the adjacent roads. Included shall be the average daily trips and peak hour trips proposed along with the existing capacity of each roadway. The level of service of each roadway shall also be included for conditions before and after the proposed development traffic impact assessment shall be provided by the applicant if the proposed development exceeds the traffic generation thresholds of Article XV of the Bryan County Subdivision Regulations.

The following new sections 1211 and 1212 are hereby added to Article XII of the zoning ordinance:

Section 1211. Amendments to a PUD Approval – Administrative Approval.

The Planning Director may authorize the following Minor Amendments to a Preliminary or Final Development Plan:

- a. Deviations arising from limited technical considerations which could not reasonably be anticipated during the approval process.
- b. Amendments required to bring the application into compliance with adopted technical codes.
- c. Any other change which has no material effect on the character of the approved PUD, as determined by the Planning Director, such as:
 - 1. Driveway relocations;
 - 2. Facility design modifications for design, recreational or other amenities;
 - 3. Substitutions of landscaping materials;
 - 4. Realignments of internal roads prior to final plat approval as long as the realignment does not result reduce the gross area of common areas or open spaces, reduce residential lot sizes, eliminate required buffers or create road alignments that fail to conform with County standards; and
 - 5. Expansions or relocation of buffers, open spaces and landscape areas that do not reduce buffering for internal or external residential development.

Section 1212: Amendments to a PD Approval – Resubmittal and Rehearing.

All other changes are Major Design Modifications to the Preliminary Development Plan and shall be resubmitted for Planning and Zoning Commission review and Board of County Commission approval. These include, but are not limited to:

- a. Change in use;
- b. Designation of additional land uses;
- c. Change in the location of permitted use(s) from what is shown on the approved PUD Plan;
- d. An increase or decrease in project area other than surveyor other base data corrections;
- e. Decrease in Open Space;
- f. Change in dimensional standards set forth in the Development Conditions that result in a decrease in minimum standards (e.g., reduction in minimum setbacks or reductions in road widths) or increase in maximum standards (i.e. an increase in building height and/or gross density or intensity of land uses, a decrease in required setbacks or yards);
- g. Change to proposed treatment of buffering, landscaping, land uses or lot sizes along the perimeter of the PD;
- h. Addition or reduction of driveways or access points, especially those which negatively affect connectivity or road safety; or
- i. Other design modifications to the approved Preliminary Development Plan that the Planning Director determines to be major.

Section 9: Appeals, Variances and Administrative Relief

Article V of the zoning ordinance is hereby repealed and replaced with the following provisions:

Article V – Appeals, Variances and Administrative Relief

Section 500. Appeals to Ministerial Decisions.

- a. **Purpose.** The Planning and Zoning Commission shall function as the County's Board of Adjustment shall have the power to decide appeals to any decision on a development application made by the Planning Director or other member of the County's administration. Any person aggrieved of such a decision may appeal the decision to the Planning and Zoning Commission and in the manner provided in this section. The provisions of this section do not apply to engineering decisions on construction plans made by the Engineering Director.
- b. Application. The appeals application shall be filed with the Planning Director and shall state fully the decision being appealed and the reasons that the applicant believes the decision was made in error. The application to appeal shall be filed within thirty (30) days of receiving notice of the development decision being appealed. The Planning Director shall prepare a report making findings and recommendations on the application and authorize notice to be provided.
- c. Notice for Appeals. The applicant shall provide the following notice:
 - Mailed Notice. Mail notice of the date, time, location and topic of a public hearing on the
 lot split or conveyance plat to the owners of all parcels located within 300 feet as measured
 from the nearest property line to the nearest property line. If the subdivision triggers the
 requirement for a traffic impact analysis pursuant to article XV of the subdivision regulations
 notice shall be required to be mailed to all properties located within 600 feet of the
 proposed subdivision.
 - 2. Posted Notice. At least one (1) Sign shall be posted at least fourteen (14) days prior to the hearing in conspicuous places visible from each street along the frontage of the subject property. Signs shall be in a form approved by the Planning Director with the words "Zoning

- Decision" in six (6) inch tall lettering and the planning department phone number clearly legible from the street.
- 3. Published Notice. Publish notice in a newspaper of general circulation within Bryan County in the public notices section at least 15 days, but not more than 45 days prior to the hearing.
- d. **Stay of Proceeding**. An appeal stays all actions by the Planning Director seeking enforcement of or compliance with the order or decision appealed from, unless the Planning Director certifies to the Planning and Zoning Commission that a stay would cause imminent peril to life or property. If enforcement is not stayed, then the Planning and Zoning Commission shall meet and hear the appeal within thirty (30) days after such request is filed.
- e. **Bases for Planning and Zoning Commission Action**. In evaluating an Appeal, the Board of Adjustment shall determine whether the decision being appealed:
 - 1. Was made based on correct interpretation of the applicable regulations; and
 - 2. Reflected the correct response to the application that was approved, denied or conditionally approved.
- f. **Planning and Zoning Commission Action**. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing and may:
 - 1. Reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision, or determination appealed.
 - 2. Make such order, requirement, decision, or determination as ought to be made, providing a statement of the specific reasons or findings of fact; and
 - 3. Exercise all the powers of the officer or agency from whom the appeal is taken.
- g. **Findings Required**. A motion to reverse, affirm or modify the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed from shall include, in so far as practicable, a statement of the specific reasons or findings of facts that support the motion.
- h. **Failure to Act**. If a motion to reverse or modify is not made or fails to receive a majority vote necessary to overturn the action being appealed, then a motion to uphold the decision appealed from is deemed approved.
- i. Burden of Proof in Appeals. When an appeal is taken to the Planning and Zoning Commission in accordance with this section, the Planning Director shall have the initial burden of presenting to the Board sufficient evidence and argument to justify the decision appealed from. The burden of presenting evidence and argument to the contrary then shifts to the appellant, who also shall have the burden of persuasion.
- j. **Exemption Based on Constitutional or Statutory Claims**. The Board of Adjustment may approve an exemption from the requirements of this UDO, to the extent necessary to comply with or conform to federal or state law, or to avoid or resolve any alleged violation federal or state law caused by the enforcement of any regulation imposed by this UDO. Any person desiring such an exemption shall file a written petition with the Planning Director, who shall forward the petition to the Board of Adjustment for purposes of conducting a public hearing on the petition and issuing a final determination. The petition shall include separate statements that:
 - 1. Advise to which particular regulation of the County the requested exemption relates;

- 2. Explain how the regulation is not in conformance with federal or state law, or how it allegedly violates federal or state law;
- 3. Describe how granting the exemption would be in the public interest and not be contrary to the public health, safety, and welfare; and
- 4. Describe the intended use of land or activity for which the exemption is being sought.

Section 501. Variances.

- a. Purpose. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall function as the County's Board of Adjustment shall have the power to vary the provisions of Chapters 12 and 13 of the Bryan County Code when the applicant demonstrates that the criteria in this section justify relief from the strict application of the regulations in chapters 12 and 13. No change in permitted uses may be authorized by variance.
- b. **Application**. The variance application shall be filed with the Planning Director and shall comply with the requirements established in Appendix A. The application shall state fully the special conditions applying to the building, other structure or land for which such variance is sought and how the application satisfies the criteria established herein.
- c. **Review**. The Planning Director shall review the application and shall determine if the application is complete pursuant to the provisions of sections 403 and 404 of the County's subdivision regulations. Upon finding that the application is complete, the Planning Director shall prepare a report making findings and recommendations on the application based on paragraph d of this section, and authorize notice to be provided. [notice requirements?]
- d. **Notice for Appeals**. The applicant shall provide the following notice:
 - Mailed Notice. Mail notice of the date, time, location and topic of a public hearing on the
 lot split or conveyance plat to the owners of all parcels located within 300 feet as measured
 from the nearest property line to the nearest property line. If the subdivision triggers the
 requirement for a traffic impact analysis pursuant to article XV of the subdivision regulations
 notice shall be required to be mailed to all properties located within 600 feet of the
 proposed subdivision.
 - 2. Posted Notice. At least one (1) Sign shall be posted at least fourteen (14) days prior to the hearing in conspicuous places visible from each street along the frontage of the subject property. Signs shall be in a form approved by the Planning Director with the words "Zoning Decision" in six (6) inch tall lettering and the planning department phone number clearly legible from the street.
 - 3. Published Notice. Publish notice in a newspaper of general circulation within Bryan County in the public notices section at least 15 days, but not more than 45 days prior to the hearing.
- d. Review Criteria. A variance may be granted by the Board of Adjustment if it finds that:
 - Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the ordinance. It shall not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property;
 - 2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, size or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood or the general public may not be the basis for granting a variance.

- 3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify granting a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created hardship.
- 4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose and intent of the ordinance, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved.
- e. **Planning and Zoning Commission Hearing**. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing and approve, conditionally approve or deny of the application.
 - 1. Before granting a variance, the Commission must affirm by a four-fifths (4/5) majority that each of the required findings set forth as criteria in paragraph d of this section are true. In so far as practicable, a motion to make an affirmative finding on each of the requirements shall include a statement of the specific reasons or findings of fact supporting each criteria.
 - 2. In granting variances, the Board of Adjustment may impose such reasonable conditions as will ensure than the use of the property to which the variance applies will be as compatible as practicable with the surrounding properties.
 - 3. A motion to deny a variance may be made on the basis that any one or more of the criteria are not satisfied or that the application is incomplete. In so far as practicable, such a motion shall include a statement of the specific reasons or findings of fact that support it. This motion shall be adopted as the Commission's decision if supported by more than one-fifth (1/5) of the Commission's membership (excluding vacant seats).

f. Effect of Approval.

- 1. Except when the Planning and Zoning Commission specifies that the variance shall be issued for an indefinite duration or for a specified duration, the variance shall expire one (1) year after the approval unless the applicant establishes the building, structure or other improvement for which the variance was sought.
- 2. The nature of the variance and any conditions attached to it shall be entered on the face of the zoning permit or the zoning permit may simply note the issuance of the variance and refer to the written record of the variance for further information. All such conditions are enforceable in the same manner as any other applicable requirement of this chapter.

Section 502. Administrative Relief.

- e. **Purpose**. Administrative relief provides for expeditious review of minor deviations from the provisions of this chapter under specified circumstances. The administrative relief process does not involve a public hearing unless a decision is appealed by the applicant to the Planning and Zoning Commission.
- f. **Initiation**. The Board of County Commissioners, County Administrator or property owner may initiate an application. The applicant shall file a completed application with the Planning Director in conformance with the Appendix A.
- g. **Types of Administrative Relief**. Administrative relief may be granted for any of the following situations:
 - 1. **Building Setback Reduction**: The side and rear building setbacks shall not be less than ninety (90) percent of the minimum setback requirement. Front building setbacks shall not be less than eighty (80) percent of the minimum setback requirement. All setbacks shall be required to meet minimum requirements of the Fire Code.

- 2. **Minimum Lot Area**: Minimum lot area may be reduced by up to ten (10) percent provided that not more than the lesser of 4 or ten (10) percent of the lots within the subdivision are affected.
- 3. **Landscaping and Buffers**: Minimum buffer width and planting requirements may be reduced provided that the average width of the buffer meets the minimum and not more than twenty (20) percent of the length of a buffer is below the minimum required width.
- 4. **Parking Spaces**: The number of parking spaces may be reduced by not more than ten (10) percent based on the proposed use, site conditions and availability of on-street parking.
- 5. **Parking Dimensions**: The minimum parking aisle width may be reduced by up to one (1) foot per travel lane if parking space width of every space along the aisle is increased by at least one-half (1/2) foot.
- 6. **Minor Amendments**: Subject to specific conditions of approval, the Planning Director may approve minor amendments to a PUD or site plan as defined in this chapter.
- h. **Criteria**. Administrative Relief may be granted when the Planning Director finds that the application meets each of the following criteria:
 - 1. The relief will not create a burden on adjacent property owners or conflict with the zoning district's purposes;
 - 2. The relief is necessary to allow efficient use of the property due to site conditions or circumstances that do not commonly affect properties in the district; and
 - 3. The relief does not convey a right or privilege that would be unavailable to similarly situated properties.
- i. Action. After a review period of not more than fifteen (15) business days, the Planning Director shall approve, conditionally approve or disapprove any application for administrative relief and provide written documentation justifying the action.

Section 10: Accessory Uses

Section 1000 of the zoning ordinance is hereby amended as follows:

Section 1000. <u>General Rules for Accessory Uses and Structures</u> <u>Uses and structures prohibited</u> and allowed in required setbacks and yards.

- a. No accessory building shall be constructed upon a lot until construction of the principal building has commenced.
- b. No accessory building shall be occupied until the principal building is legally occupied.
- c. No accessory use shall be established until the principal use is legally established and operating.
- d. If the principal use is terminated, all uses accessory to that use shall be terminated.
- e. If the principal building is destroyed or damaged to the point that it may not be used, the owner may apply for a conditional use permit to allow continued use of accessory structures while the principal structure is repaired, but in no case shall the permit be granted for more than two years. Requiring a principal use prior to establishing an accessory use;

- f. No accessory building shall be located in a front yard except that in an A-5, AR-2.5 AR-1.5, or AR-1 district, when the principal structure is set back at least fifty (50) feet from the front road line, a detached garage may be constructed in the front yard under the following conditions:
 - 1. The detached garage does not encroach into any required yard or easement;
 - 2. The garage doors face perpendicular to any abutting roads; and
 - 3. The garage is constructed of the same materials and is designed to appear to be part of the principal structure.
- g. With the exception of a farm structure used for agricultural purposes in the A-5, AR-2.5, or AR 1.5 district, no accessory building may exceed the height of the principle building or exceed fifty (50) percent of the principal building's floor area.
- h. In any R district, accessory buildings other than detached garages or authorized guest houses, shall not exceed fifteen (15) feet in height or two-hundred (200) square feet in floor area. Said structures shall be located in a side or rear yard.
- i. With the exception of farm structures used for agricultural purposes, more than two accessory structures may be established in any A, AR, or R district.
- a.j. No principal structure shall be located within any setback or yard required by this ordinance, except as provided herein.
- b.k. Except as provided herein, no accessory structure shall be located within any front setback, or within ten (10) feet of a lot line in an established side or rear yard. Piers, docks, and other water-dependent accessory structures may be located in any required setback or yard on lots which abut a body of water or marsh. A fence, wall, mailbox, power pole, light pole, patio at grade, paths, walkways, or berms may be located in any required setback or yard. Signs may be located in a required setback or yard which abuts a road.
- E.I. No outdoor storage of goods and materials, including mechanical equipment, structures on a permanent foundation or refuse containers shall be located within any required setback, or within any required side yard which abuts a road, except for the temporary placement of refuse containers for curbside pick-up.

Section 11: Development Review Committee

Add a new section 302 to the zoning ordinance as follows:

Section 302. Development Review Committee

- a. **Purpose**. The Development Review Committee (DRC) is intended to collect, coordinate, and resolve conflicts from input provided by various City departments and other agencies having responsibility for review or providing services to proposed development.
- b. Membership. The Planning Director shall serve as the chair and coordinator for all DRC meetings. Other participants, who shall participate as needed in the review of specific applications shall include the Engineering Director, Fire Chief, County Health Director, and Public Works Director. At the discretion of the Planning Director, representatives from other Bryan County public service agencies may be asked to comment on development or participate in DRC meetings.
- c. **Responsibilities**. The DRC shall be responsible for reviewing applications as requested by the Planning Director; evaluating compliance with the requirements of Bryan County's development

regulations and other technical requirements; recommending site and building design modifications to ensure greater compliance with adopted standards; and providing identifying public improvement implications for the following types of actions pursuant to the procedures in zoning ordinance and subdivision regulations:

- 1. Comprehensive plan map and text amendments;
- 2. Zoning map and text amendments;
- 3. Zoning ordinance text amendments
- 4. Planned unit development applications;
- 5. Conditional use permit applications;
- 6. Site plan applications;
- 7. Variance applications;
- 8. Subdivision applications; and
- 9. Administrative development approvals.

Section 11: Site and Building Design Guidelines

This section adopts site and building design guidelines¹ for residential and non-residential structures.

Supplemental Site and Building Design Guidelines

- 1. **Design Objectives.** The following guidelines are intended to guide new construction, and additions and structural modifications affecting road-facing building façades with the objectives of:
 - a. Achieving building and site design that is compatible with its setting while avoiding monotonous uniformity;
 - b. Protecting property values and enhancing the value of public and private investments through well-planned and well-maintained development;
 - c. Promoting creative designs that surpass the quality of the minimum design guidelines established herein; and
 - d. Fostering safe, healthy and sustainable development that becomes increasing valued in Bryan County as desirable places to live, work, play and shop as each year passes.
 - e. Ensuring that scale, massing and building details are in proportion to and complementary with the surrounding neighborhood.
 - f. Avoid the appearance of monotonous tract-type housing by precluding matching designs on adjacent single-family lots.
 - g. Emphasizing entries for people and deemphasizing the mass of garages.

¹ Guidelines are not as specific or detailed as design standards. They will enable staff review of site and plot plans unless the applicant chooses to appeal staff requirements to the Planning & Zoning Commission or Board of County Commissioners.

- h. Requiring materials that are durable in Bryan County's environment.
- i. Promoting walking and biking within and between developments.
- j. Fostering site development that reflects and reinforces the natural beauty of Bryan County.
- 2. General Application. Standards applicable to single-family detached and duplex residences shall be applied through staff review in accordance with the small site development plan review process in article 17 of the zoning ordinance. Standards for multi-family and non-residential development shall be applied through the major site development plan process of article 17 of the zoning ordinance. The Planning and Zoning Commission may waive or modify any of the following guidelines in accordance with the following section of these guidelines.

3. Waiver or Modification of Guidelines.

- a. It is the intent of these guidelines that they be applied with the flexibility to allow for superior designs that do not comply with every applicable guideline.
- b. Applicants may request the Planning and Zoning Commission to modify or waiver one or more of the guidelines when requesting site plan approval.
- c. The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve the request or approve the request with conditions upon finding that the design meets each of the design objectives in section 1 of these guidelines.

4. Single-Family and Duplex Residential Design Standards.

- a. **Purposes**. To foster residential development that promotes safe and vibrant neighborhoods.
- b. Applicability. The following standards apply to all new detached single-family and duplex residential construction, and additions or modifications to the road-facing façades of single-family or duplex residential construction occurring on parcels located within any future land use category designated by the Comprehensive Plan except the "agriculture low density residential" category.
- c. **Materials and Finishes**. Walls shall be finished in brick, stone, stucco, or wood or hardy plank siding. Vinyl or other plastic siding or metal siding are prohibited. Not more than two building materials should be used for exterior walls (excluding trim and cornices). on sides of buildings facing a road.
- d. Garage Entries. Side entry garages are preferable, but where precluded by lot width, garage entries shall be setback at least five (5) feet behind the portion of the building located closest to the road and shall not exceed fifty (50) percent of the building width. (see exhibit 1)
- e. **Garage Orientation**. Side entry garages shall have windows comprising at least fifteen (15) percent of the front facing wall. (see exhibit 1)
- f. **Roof planes**. Dwellings shall have at least four roof planes visible from front property line. (see exhibit 2)
- g. **Roof pitch**. Roof pitches shall be 4:12 (rise:run) or steeper unless mansard roof for all planes visible from the front of the structure.

- h. **Entries**. Entries shall be visible from the front of the building and connected to the road by a clearly delineated pedestrian walkway. Porches and entry design features are encouraged.
- i. **Building Articulation and Openings**. All dwellings must incorporate design features such as offsets, balconies projections, recessed or covered entrances, windows, doors, window reveals, or similar elements to break up large expanses of blank walls. (see exhibit 3)
- j. **Massing**. Break up two-story design elements with design elements and keep second story wall heights to a minimum. (see exhibit 4)
- k. **Mobility**. Avoid block lengths in excess of 500 feet, where longer blocks or cul-de-sac roads are necessary due to drainage or other site constraints, install cross-block multipurpose trails. For detached single-family or duplex subdivisions with twenty (20) or more lots, provide secondary road access.

Exhibit 1: Garage Design Guidelines

| Garage Design Guidelines | Acceptable Example | Unacceptable Example |
|--|--------------------|----------------------|
| Garage entries should be oriented away from the front property line or set back at least 5 feet behind the front building line | | |
| Front facing garages shall not comprise more than 50% of the building width | | |
| The front facing walls of side entry garages shall have windows or entries covering at least 15% of the wall. | | |

Exhibit 2: Multiple Roof Planes Required

Roof Design Guidelines At least four distinct roof planes shall be visible from the front property line. Unacceptable Example Unacceptable Example

Exhibit 3: Building Articulation and Openings

| Articulation Guidelines | Acceptable Example | Unacceptable Example |
|--|--------------------|----------------------|
| Incorporate features such as offsets, balconies projections, recessed or covered entrances, windows, porches, or similar elements to break up blank walls. | | |

Exhibit 4: Limit Massing



5. Multi-Family Residential Development

- a. **Purposes.** Foster multi-family developments that:
 - i. Are designed to be compatible with surrounding neighborhoods and land uses.
 - ii. Encourage interaction of residents through creative structural placement, building orientation, and landscaping treatment along the streetscape and open space areas.
 - iii. Incorporate usable common open space and amenities that enrich the lives of future residents.
 - iv. Are designed with proper setbacks, landscape, and Massing to address privacy, solar access, and compatibility with adjacent single-family residential development or land.
 - v. Create and enhance a sense of pride in community and neighborhood.

- vi. Reinforce, the relationship between public and private space.
- vii. Incorporate environmentally sustainable features into project design.
- b. **Applicability**. These guidelines apply to townhome and multi-family development that involves new construction, additions and rehabilitation that involves replacement of siding.
- c. Design Principles.

Design Principles

Buildings. Create an identity for the project through a consistent design concepts while incorporating design features such as varied wall planes, rooflines and building form to create visual interest. Design and locate parking to minimize its visual impact along streets.









Open Spaces. Incorporate the natural habitat into site design and design around natural and recreational amenities to create usable, accessible open spaces





Public Spaces. Design public spaces to provide accessible gathering places that encourage social interaction and a sense of community.





Examples Design Principles Screening. Locate and screen loading, service and storage areas as well as mechanical and utility equipment. Mobility. Establish safe and comfortable environment encouraging walking and bicycling. Landscaping. Use appropriate plantings to soften buildings and create more desirable areas for walking and bicycling within the development

- d. **Landscaping**. Developments shall include perimeter landscape buffers complying with the standards in section 514 of the subdivision regulations in addition to landscaping throughout the property.
- e. **Height Transitions**. Portions of buildings located with one hundred (100) feet of a property line abutting an A, AR or single-family residential district shall be limited to two stories.
- f. **Building Setbacks**, Orientation and Lot Standards
 - Buildings shall be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet and a maximum of fifteen (15) feet from sidewalks public walkways or road right-of-way. Setbacks may be greater than fifteen (15) feet if the intervening distance consists of common open space.
 - ii. The minimum spacing between the sides of multi-family residential structures shall be twenty (20) feet.
 - iii. Where practical, dwellings should be located to face each other across common landscaped space with buildings no closer than (30) feet.

- g. **Building Design**. Multi-family and townhome developments shall:
 - i. Include variations in heights, color, setback, rooflines, trim, and building sizes to create visual diversity between structures.
 - ii. Include no more than six (6) dwelling Units in a single building and group buildings in clusters.
 - iii. Articulate façades by including projections of at least five (5) feet at least once every forty (40) feet along the facade.
 - iv. Rooflines shall reflect wall articulation or include features such as dormers, hips or gables to break up roof planes.
 - v. Locate windows to provide easy surveillance of open spaces and walkways, without placing such windows within direct alignment with windows of adjacent structures.
 - vi. Units above the first story should have access to private balconies of usable dimensions no smaller than ten (10) feet by six (6) feet.
 - vii. Create areas for foundation planting by keeping hard surfaces away from front façades.
 - viii. Exterior wall coverings shall include a compatible combination of brick, stone, stucco, or wood or hardy plank siding.

h. Entrances.

- i. Provide private clearly articulated entrances at grade level and adjacent to private open space to the greatest extent possible.
- ii. Design entrances so that doors to separate dwelling units do not align with each other unless screening is provided. However, entrances should be visible from the sidewalk or public walkway and other dwelling units, when practical.
- iii. Provide porches or roofed overhangs over building entrances.
- iv. Set back buildings or entries so that the entry paths extend at least ten (10) feet from sidewalk or public circulation walkway. These entry areas should be designed to provide semi-public gardens around the front entryways.
- v. Provide a private garden, yard, patio or balcony for every Dwelling Unit.
- vi. The private open space of all dwelling units shall be visually and functionally accessible from inside the dwelling.
- vii. Provide screening for yards where private activities are likely to occur and to delimit private from common open space.

i. Pedestrian Improvements.

- i. Provide continuous walkways through the project and connecting dwellings to and through common open space.
- ii. Minimize walkways that provide direct opportunities to cut through the project by strategically locating fences, low walls and planting areas within the site and near site entry points.

iii. Provide storage space for strollers, bicycles, and so forth, close to the main entries of dwellings or groups of dwellings.

j. Parking.

- i. Provide parking in small lots that are designed and located to ensure that most parked vehicles are visible from one (1) or more dwellings.
- ii. To the greatest extent practicable, parking shall not separate dwelling units from common open space.

k. Open Space.

- i. Common usable open space shall comprise ten (10) percent of the total project area.
- ii. Open spaces shall be configured so that the ratio of building height to open space width is in the range of 1:3 or greater. Ratios as tight as 1:2 may be approved if landscaping effectively screens buildings from each other.
- iii. Common open space shall be configured in areas with sides of at least one hundred (100) feet.
- iv. To the greatest extent practicable, dwelling units shall have access to common open space without having to cross a road.

I. Play Areas

- i. Play areas for young children should be physically separated from potential traffic hazards.
- ii. Provide a variety of hard-surfaces areas in the form pathways that are least five(5) feet wide and small areas off the circulation system for various children's activities.
- iii. For developments with more than twenty (20) dwellings, provide on-site; well-equipped and challenging play areas for school age children within a five (5) minute walk from each dwelling unit.
- iv. Provide places for school age children to sit.
- v. Where possible include a space for ball games on site (minimum 80 feet x 40 feet).
- vi. Provide retaining walls that can also be used for casual seating.
- vii. Where cluster dwellings are included in a project, ensure some uniqueness for each cluster. Vary the design (size, dimensions, grading, planting, site furniture and play equipment) of the common open spaces of each cluster.
- viii. The number of dwelling units grouped around common and open space should range between twenty (20) to one hundred (100).

6. Non-Residential Development

- **a. Purposes**. These design guidelines are intended to achieve the following objectives:
 - i. Promote economic vitality within Bryan County;

- ii. Support a good business environment serving the needs or residents and visitors to the County;
- iii. Foster quality and creativity in building and site designs through regulatory flexibility;
- iv. Ensure that new non-residential development is designed for the convenience, safety of pedestrians, bicyclists and motorists;
- v. Create compatible land use transitions between residential and non-residential developments.
- **b. Applicability**. The non-residential design guidelines apply to all new non-residential and mixed-use development projects requiring site plan approval excepting farm structures in an AR district. Site design standards for parking and vehicle use areas shall apply to all expansions or modifications of such areas, whether the principal structure is modified or not.
- c. Design Objectives. Non-residential projects shall be designed to:
 - i. Ensure that new development contributes to the character of a community by providing opportunities for integration of the project with the adjacent properties, neighborhood and County. The design of new development should pay attention to design compatibility between non-residential and adjacent residential use/property and the predominant characteristics of non-residential corridors.
 - ii. Encourage projects to have a unified design theme and discourage the use of corporate architecture that is not compatible with the established design theme.
 - iii. Design projects to be pedestrian-friendly. As appropriate, incorporate pedestrian and outdoor gathering places into the project design with consideration given to the climate and planned use of space.
 - iv. Ensure that new development establishes a streetscape appearance that defines the pedestrian and vehicle corridor and presents an appealing and continuous theme along a sidewalk or road.
 - v. Design parking lots with smaller parking fields and parking dispersed throughout the development. This will avoid the visual and functional detriment associated with a single sea of parking along a non-residential street frontage.
 - vi. Provide design flexibility for mixed-use development that ensures compatibility of use types and promotes beneficial relationships among uses.

d. Site Planning.

- i. Building placement and configuration on all non-residential sites shall take into consideration the physical use, functionality of users (both vehicle and pedestrian), and visual impact and experience for users and passersby. New non-residential development should be pedestrian friendly designed with the pedestrian in mind. Design attributes of pedestrian friendly non-residential development include:
 - 1. Building(s) located along and oriented towards the street frontage.

- 2. Clearly delineated pedestrian access within the development and from adjacent residential uses with the use of special pavers/scored surfaces, raised pedestrian areas, or other similar treatments.
- Parking lot design with smaller parking fields and parking dispersed throughout the development. This will avoid the visual and functional detriment associated with a single sea of parking along a non-residential street frontage.
- 4. Incorporation of public plazas and outdoor spaces.
- 5. Landscaping throughout the development to enhance project aesthetics, provide relief from the elements, and soften the hardscape of the project.
- ii. Retail and service commercial, office, community facilities, and mixed-use development with multiple structures or tenants, should use a "village" or "campus" design concept that integrates clusters of buildings with a combination of walking, landscape, and public space to achieve a desirable pedestrian experience. Site circulation for such developments should consider the functional relationship between buildings, as well as the access and movements of both vehicles and pedestrians, with the goal of providing a safe, convenient, and desirable experience for the user.
- iii. The design of new development should connect to the surrounding neighborhood and enhance the look of the existing neighborhood. However, not all established development patterns present opportunities for a desirable interface.
- iv. Project design should incorporate existing natural features of the site. Significant natural features include, but are not limited to, protected trees/tree clusters, topography and creeks. Projects located along natural creek corridors or wetland areas have a unique opportunity to enhance the natural environment and



aesthetic as a unique design attribute to the project (e.g., buffers, vegetated wetland drainage corridor, active or passive recreational improvement, and/or

interpretive area for a riparian or habitat area).

v. Site design should provide convenient and desirable pedestrian access between the street, parking lot, and uses within the integrated development. The incorporation of public gathering places is also desirable for most integrated non-residential developments. The number,



size, location and particular pedestrian amenities will be evaluated on a case-bycase basis taking into consideration the proposed use and development of the site, as well as the relationship to surrounding neighborhood and street network. Where incorporated, the following objectives apply to the design of pedestrian gathering places.

1. Design of public plazas should emphasize the active nature of these spaces and incorporate some combination of accent items such as; site furniture (tables, umbrellas, benches, trash receptacles), shade structures, interesting solers and materials or



- interesting colors and materials, or other focal elements.
- 2. Design and layout of plaza areas shall consider the local climate and seasonal conditions and provide protections from the sun, wind, and rain.
- 3. Site furniture should be selected not only for its functional and aesthetic qualities but also for the quality of materials and finishes that provide long term durability and resistance to vandalism and climate/sun damage.
- vi. Where non-residential development abuts residential uses/land, site planning should carefully address the potential undesirable impacts associated with non-residential development (traffic, noise, light and glare) by utilizing appropriate buffering and siting techniques such as:
 - 1. Solid wall. A six-foot-tall solid masonry wall may be required between non-residential and residential uses where buildings or vehicle use areas are located within thirty (30) feet of the property line. The design of all proposed walls will be reviewed as part of the non-residential site plan application. The location, height, materials and finishes should be appropriate for the purpose of the barrier and should complement the building design. When required, the design of solid walls abutting residential development or property shall include a trim cap. Solid walls shall be designed to be resistant to graffiti (e.g., material, paint finish/seal, landscape) and be able to withstand local climate conditions.
 - Landscape. Landscaping along the adjoining property lines can be an
 effective buffering tool where there is adequate space for a combination of
 berming and the planting of fast-growing evergreen trees, plants, and
 shrubs.
 - Strategic site planning should reduce potential nuisances to adjoining residential property by locating trash enclosures, loading areas, and restaurant vents away from residential uses and by proper screening of utilities and equipment.

e. Access and Circulation

 Non-residential development projects should be designed to provide connections between neighborhoods, adjacent compatible uses and area-wide trail systems. When adjacent residential and/or non-residential uses can mutually benefit from connection rather than separation, connective elements shall be incorporated into the project design. Benefits, location, and specific improvements will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Examples of connective elements include:

- 1. Pedestrian walkways;
- 2. Pedestrian gates;
- 3. Common landscape areas; and
- 4. Other design features that allow/encourage two-way access between uses.
- ii. On-site circulation systems for non-residential development shall be designed to avoid conflicts between vehicular, bicycle, and pedestrian traffic.
- iii. Access drives for all non-residential developments with more than 25 parking spaces shall have a minimum driveway throat depth of 25 feet (colored and textured pavement), measured from public right-of-way along adjacent roadway. The County may increase this minimum throat depth on a case-by-case basis considering use and scale, as well as the vehicle trip generation and distribution of the proposed project.
- iv. Pursuant to requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), all non-residential developments shall be designed with a minimum of one designated pedestrian path from each abutting street to the primary entrance(s) of the development. The County encourages the design of large non-residential projects with multiple points of pedestrian access. Such access shall be distinct from the vehicle access and visibly delineated. Appropriate locations for pedestrian access points include signalized intersections, other designated pedestrian crossings (e.g., crosswalk, pedestrian bridge), and transit stops. Internal pedestrian walkways shall be distinguished from driving surfaces through the use of raised sidewalks, special pavers, bricks, and/or scored/stamped concrete/ asphalt and shall comply with ADA requirements.
- v. Generally, the use of special paving is encouraged to enhance project design. However, special paving should be used as an accent, rather than as fill-in material, where it serves some purpose (see Photo V-10). Preferred locations for special paving include:
 - 1. Traffic calming at project driveways and crossings;
 - 2. Pedestrian crossings/sidewalks;
 - 3. Pedestrian plazas;
 - 4. Pedestrian walkways to distinguish between paths of travel and designated sales and/or seating areas;
 - 5. Primary building entrances;
 - 6. Traffic circles; and
 - 7. Promenades.
- vi. All non-residential developments with multiple buildings or tenants shall be designed with one or more pedestrian features. Potential pedestrian features

are listed below. Proposed improvements will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis as part site plan review:

- 1. Pedestrian walkways along storefronts connecting all entrances. Such walkways shall be primarily covered with building overhangs, trellises, awnings, or a combination thereof;
- 2. Pedestrian courtyard(s) and/or plaza(s); or
- 3. Other pedestrian design features that meet the intent of this guideline.
- vii. To minimize conflicting vehicle turning movement along major roadways, shared access drives within and between integrated non-residential development are encouraged. This reduces the number of driveway curb cuts. The County also encourages reciprocal access between non-residential developments to provide for convenience, safety, and efficient circulation. If incorporated, a reciprocal access agreement shall be recorded with the land by the owners of abutting properties to ensure that there will be continued availability of the shared access.
- viii. Bicycle racks shall be provided and located in a highly visible location, near the primary entrance(s) to the development and shall not obstruct the designated pedestrian walkways.

f. Parking Lots

- i. The Zoning Code establishes the minimum number of vehicle parking spaces required by use type, along with parking lot and space development standards. The County discourages development where the surface parking area dominates the frontage of the development and visual character of the site. Design attributes that minimize the appearance of parking lots are listed below. Also see parking lot landscape provisions herein.
- ii. Large surface parking areas and other expansive areas of paved surfaces should be designed with a series of smaller parking areas. Smaller parking areas can be incorporated by physically separating parking areas with buildings or plazas, and may also be delineated with an onsite circulation system that uses uninterrupted drive aisles, mostly contiguous landscape planters, pedestrian walkways, or any combination thereof.



- iii. Siting parking areas away from the street frontage can minimize the visual impact and presence of vehicles. In non-residential developments with multiple buildings, one or more buildings or portions thereof should be located along the landscape corridor abutting the street. This type of design creates more visual interest and pedestrian appeal.
- iv. Parking lots should have a direct pedestrian connection to the building entry points, especially if the parking is located along the side and/or behind the

buildings. Designated pedestrian access shall be provided from all public parking fields to the primary building entrances.

- g. Landscape Corridors. Landscape corridors along non-residential developments should enhance surrounding improvements, create a pedestrian-friendly environment, and establish year-round and seasonal landscape to soften the appearance of streets.
 - i. Minimum width of landscape corridors along arterial and collector roads shall be 25 feet. The County may allow reductions in the corridor width to ensure continuity with an existing approved corridor. The landscape corridor shall include a minimum four- to six-foot-wide sidewalk separated from the back of curb by no less than six feet or the edge of the shoulder by at least ten feet.
 - ii. Street trees are the primary delineators within the landscape corridors, which aesthetically create rhythm and soften the environment along street corridors. Street trees shall be planted in a single row at a maximum spacing of 50 feet Minimum street tree planting size is 15-gallon container. One-third of the street trees shall be at least 24-inch box trees or larger. Street tree species shall be approved by the Planning Director.
 - iii. Accent trees are intended to supplement and enhance the street trees. Accent trees should have distinguishing characteristics to highlight significant areas within the landscape corridors (e.g., points of entry, pedestrian access points, intersections, transitional areas). Minimum planting size for accent trees is 15gallon container.
 - iv. Both street trees and accent trees should include a combination of evergreen and deciduous trees for screening, canopy, and seasonal change.
 - v. Shrubs and groundcover shall be designed to enhance the character of the nonresidential development. Landscape considerations should include visual appearance, parking lot screening, clear sight visibility at driveways and pedestrian connections, and absorb stormwater runoff.
- h. Parking Lot Landscape. Landscaping shall be provided adjacent to and within parking areas to screen vehicles from view and to minimize the expansive appearance of parking lot fields. Landscaping within and around parking areas should also be designed in a manner to reduce urban runoff.
 - i. As required above, tree planting along the front and street side yards shall be spaced a maximum of 50

feet apart (on center). Tree planting along the interior property lines shall be spaced a maximum of 30 feet apart (on center).



ii. At a minimum, the parking areas shall meet the following minimum standards for pervious landscape areas and projected canopy coverage. Projected canopy coverage shall be determined based on normal growth rates fifteen years after planting.

| Number of Parking Spaces in Parking Lot | % of Total Parking Area to be Pervious Landscape Area | % of Total Parking Area Under Canopy within 15 Years |
|---|--|---|
| 5 – 24 spaces | 5 % minimum | 30 % minimum |
| 25 – 49 spaces | 7.5 % minimum | 40 % minimum |
| 50 + spaces | 10 % minimum | 50 % minimum |

- i. Screening. Dense landscaping and/or architectural treatments should be provided to screen unattractive views and features such as storage areas, trash enclosures, utility cabinets and other similar elements. The intent is to visually screen the equipment from the street and not to preclude access to the equipment on all sides.
- j. Project Entry Landscape. The use of landscaping and accent paving can help define and beautify a project entrance as viewed from the street. The vehicular entrance to the project should be clearly defined and provide adequate sight distance for vehicles and pedestrians. Entries to multi- tenant projects shall be designed as special statements reflective of the character and scale of the project in order to establish identity for tenants, visitors, and patrons. Landscape design at project entries shall complement the special landscape treatment at street corners with common elements. Flowering accent plantings and specimen trees shall be used to reinforce the entry statement. Planting design should have focal points at project entries, plaza areas, and other areas of interest using distinct planting and/or landscape features.
- k. Landscape for Public Plazas and Building Fronts. Landscaping should be provided along/against all building facades facing a parking lot or street to anchor it to the surrounding environment and to soften the appearance of the structure. In-ground landscaping should comprise the majority of the landscaping requirement. Raised planters are acceptable when designed to accentuate the architecture and or enhance pedestrian areas. All planting materials shall be sized so that landscaping has an attractive appearance at the time of installation and an established appearance within three years of planting
- I. Storage, Loading and Service Areas. Outdoor storage and loading/service areas shall be screened from public view through a combination of building design, location, landscaping, berming, walls and/or fencing. This provision does not apply to light industrial development.
- m. Outdoor Displays. Permanent outdoor sales and displays shall not be located within any required setback in the corresponding zoning district on which it is located. Outdoor sales and displays shall be located in a designated area immediately abutting the associated building(s). At a minimum, designated permanent and temporary sales areas or seating areas shall be delineated with special paving to distinguish such area from required paths of travel. Within this designated area, only those goods and materials associated with the existing on-site use may be stored, sold, or displayed. Design of screening/enclosure for permanent outdoor storage or outdoor dining shall be compatible with the design, colors, and materials of the associated building(s) and will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Chain link is not generally considered an acceptable screening material for outdoor storage/sales areas.
- **n. Trash/Recycling**. Trash enclosures and containers shall be sized to accommodate the volume of refuse but should also take advantage of opportunities to centralize

- enclosures where there are multiple buildings or users. The hydraulic compactors are prohibited except where entirely enclosed within a building. Trash enclosure materials and colors shall be consistent with and complimentary to the building materials and finishes.
- o. Lighting. Light features shall be located and designed with cut-off lenses to avoid light spill and glare on adjacent properties. To minimize light trespass on residential structures directly abutting a non-residential site, illumination measured at the nearest residential structure or rear yard/side yard setback line shall not exceed the moon's potential ambient illumination of one-tenth (0.1) foot-candle. This measurement shall be taken at the nearest location of a residential structure (required rear yard or side yard setback line).
- p. Building Design, Generally. The goal of the design review process is to maintain a village scale and feel to non-residential development using local vernacular or low country architecture. The vernacular buildings are typical of most small, Atlantic seaboard communities, and can be generally described as simple and utilitarian in form, design, material and detail. Primary building materials should be limited to those readily available in the area— predominantly, wood and some brick. Roofs should be hipped or gabled roofs with broad eaves and exposed rafter tails or fascia trim. Boxed eaves, when present, should feature a traditional pedimented gable or return detail. Exposed roofing materials should be metal standing seam or 5-V crimp. Windows should be abundant with overall shapes and panes that are taller than wide. Decorative trim and detailing should be provided along pedestrian areas of the building, such as display windows and entries in addition to cornice trim at the eaves and in the gables. Large porches should be provided at the primary entries, with square wood columns or simple round Tuscan columns. In general:
 - i. Architectural features should be used to provide weather protection and highlight building features and entries. Covered walkways should be provided along primary building frontages and between businesses within an integrated development.
 - ii. All structures shall have a primary façade facing the primary road on which the development is located.
 - iii. Building articulation should help establish a human scale and provide visual interest.
 - iv. Buildings should be designed with careful consideration for the incorporation of signage and lighting. New buildings and additions shall be designed to allow for signs appropriate in scale and location to the use and the neighborhood.
 - v. Non-residential buildings shall be designed with an architectural style and/or theme. The selected architectural style/theme for a building or integrated development shall be applied consistently throughout and among the buildings. The intent of this guideline is to ensure that non-residential development incorporates architecturally valid design of each building and architectural continuity within an integrated development. While all building elevations of a structure will not have the same level of detailing and articulation, elements of the architectural style shall be evident on all elevations of all buildings within the development.

vi. Building entries shall be designed to protect patrons and employees from the elements and create a "sense of entry" or a focal point for the building. The scale and treatment of such focal point shall take into consideration the type of nonresidential development proposed. For instance, an integrated development may be designed without an anchor tenant or known tenant space. In those circumstances, building design and entry treatment(s) will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.



- q. Mass, Scale, and Form. Architectural scale, for purposes of these guidelines, is the relationship between the size of the new buildings and the size of surrounding buildings. scale also refers to how the size of the building relates to the size of a human being (human scale). The apparent scale of a building should be reduced through the proper use of window patterns, roof overhangs, equipment bays that screen unsightly elements, awnings, moldings, fixtures, the use of darker or subdued colors, upper story setbacks, building and roof articulation and other details. Items that can help to achieve appropriate scale are as follows:
 - i. Large buildings should give the appearance of smaller components through the use of such features as recessed facades and articulation in the building mass.
 - ii. Design all proposed buildings or structures to be sensitive to the neighborhood character with regard to scale, architectural style, use of materials and bulk.
 - iii. Design buildings to achieve a human scale and interest by including elements which give a person a sense of their relationship to the structure such as balconies, awnings, canopies, arcades, wall insets and reveals.
 - iv. Building entries and street side facades should be designed with elements that enhance pedestrian comfort and orientation while presenting features with visual interest that invite activity. Landscaping and architectural detail at the street level should be used to soften the edge of the building and enhance the pedestrian scale and streetscape.
 - v. Long facades shall include off-sets and other design features to create the appearance of multiple storefronts that are no more than 50 feet wide.
 - vi. Rooflines, wall planes and wall heights should be varied and significantly articulated to avoid blank expanses of building elevations.
 - vii. As a general rule, the scale of building(s) on a site edge should be compatible with the scale of adjoining development. Where surrounding development is of a small scale, large-scale buildings should be located internal to the site and transition down in scale as the outer edge of the site approaches.
 - viii. The design of larger non-residential buildings should be designed to reduce its perceived building height and length by dividing the building mass into smaller scale

components. One way to achieve this breakdown is to provide a well-defined base, middle and top to the building as described below.

- 1. A solid building base may be achieved by elements such as low planters and walls, base planting, a base architectural veneer banding (wainscot) and treatments defined by a different material, texture or color.
- TOP
 MIDDLE
 BASE
- 2. A solid building middle (and a more articulated building mass) may be achieved by the addition of intermittent covered walkways, trellises or architectural awnings that provide deep shadow at ground level.
- Using features such as multiple architectural roof forms, clearly pronounced eaves, and distinct parapet designs and cornice treatments may achieve a welldefined building top
- features should be architecturally valid, not just decorative. While some elements may be wholly decorative, primary architectural features should be related to the building's structure, function and/or engineering, and should not be arbitrary. The intent of this guideline is to avoid developments with architectural elements that look applied, rather than incorporated (e.g., false front treatments, partial roof forms). Building facades should be primarily constructed of brick, wood or hardie board designed to look like



horizontal lap siding. The Planning Director may approve the use of other materials for gables and other architectural features where appropriate (e.g., building voids used to break up facades), but unfinished concrete, vinyl and metal

finishes are prohibited.

s. Rooflines. Roofs, including gasoline canopies and all other structures shall be hip or gable. Flat or gently pitched roofs may be approved for larger structures as long as all roof-mounted mechanical equipment is screened by a parapet.



- **t. Entries**. Building entries should be clearly defined by roofline, canopy, paving and landscaping design.
- w. Windows and Openings. Windows and other openings shall be provided along all facades that face a public road. Windows and doors shall comprise at least 20 percent of the wall area below the roofline, lowest point of canopy, bottom of porch fascia or other architectural features defining the middle of the building.



Memo



To: Bryan County Board of County Commissioners

From: Michael Lauer, AICP - Principal

Date: May 31, 2018

Re: Bryan County's Land Development Codes Revision

On August 2, 2017, Bryan County retained Michael Lauer Planning to review the County's land development codes and identify opportunities to improve existing development procedures and standards. A summary of that analysis and recommended actions are included in the attached memorandum from January 30 of this year. In short, the analysis recommended a complete update and consolidation of the development regulations in a Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). Because that process is likely to require up to 18 months to complete, the analysis recommended the development of an interim development ordinance (IDO) to address a series of regulatory improvements that could be accomplished in a shorter time-frame.

Subsequent to the analysis, the County authorized the development of an interim development ordinance (IDO) to address the following topics:

- 1. Site and building design guidelines¹ for residential and non-residential structures and site development;
- 2. Revised variance review and approval procedures and standards;
- 3. Staff relief to certain zoning and site development standards;
- 4. Staff and public review procedures and approval criteria for site development plans;
- New and expanded standards and procedures authorizing staff approval of minor subdivisions;
- 6. Traffic impact analysis that is appropriate to the scale and potential impacts of affected development;
- 7. Revisions to major subdivision procedures to:
 - a. Provide ministerial approval of construction plans and create an appeals process;
 - b. Authorize consent approval of final plats that are consistent with preliminary plant approvals by the Board of County Commissioners; and
 - c. Establish procedures and standards for development agreement review and approval; and
- 8. Rules for adoption, amendment, administration and appeals to public improvement design standards; and
- 9. Definitions and staff approval criteria for minor amendments to planned developments, site plans, and preliminary plats.

¹ Guidelines are not as specific or detailed as design standards. They will enable staff review of site and plot plans unless the applicant chooses to appeal staff requirements to the Planning & Zoning Commission or Board of County Commissioners.

Over the next month, staff will review a draft IDO that includes the above provisions and additional issues related to accessory uses and subdivision improvement performance guarantees. Following staff review, review by the Planning and Zoning Commission is anticipated to begin in July, with the final IDO being introduced to the Board of County Commissioners in early August. Most significantly, the IDO will:

- Provide improved site and building design guidance for applicants, the Board and the P&Z Commission, and staff;
- Simplify the minor subdivision process;
- Separate construction plan approval from the preliminary plat approval process;
- Clarify and enhance infrastructure improvement guarantees;
- Assign responsibility for review of variance applications and appeals to staff decisions to the P&Z Commission;
- Provide clear guidance for assessing and mitigating traffic impacts; and
- Document and expand provisions authorizing staff to approve minor deviations from development standards and minor revisions to site plans, preliminary plats and planned unit developments.

General scopes for both the IDO and the drafting of the UDO are included within the attached memorandum. A more detailed scope and budget for preparation of the UDO will be developed while the Planning and Zoning Commission and Board of County Commissioners review the IDO.





To: Bryan County Planning & Zoning Commission

From: Michael Lauer, AICP - Principal

Date: January 30, 2018

Re: Bryan County's Land Development Codes Analysis

Overview.

Purpose. The purposes of this memo are to summarize the analysis of Bryan County's development regulations and to recommend short and long-term strategies to remedy deficiencies. Currently, the development regulations do not adequately address the full range of land use, growth and development challenges facing Bryan County. While some of the procedures and standards can be improved through targeted regulatory patches that can be accomplished relatively quickly, the current Code's organizational challenges combined with the dearth of design guidance can only be resolved by a comprehensive revision that typically takes a year or more to complete.

Process. The analysis reflects input from the project consultant, the County staff, the Board of County Commissioners, the Planning and Zoning Commission, representatives of the homebuilding, development and engineering industries and interested citizens. In addition to reviewing applicable portions of the County's code, the consultant reviewed the recently adopted Richmond Hill Unified Development Ordinance to identify opportunities to coordinate regulatory standards and procedures. While the scope of this review is adequate to identify the County's regulatory challenges and potential solutions, additional public input will be essential during the process of implementing this document's recommendations to ensure that the resulting regulations are consistent with community values, needs and resources.

Code Organization. The County's development regulations include many procedures and standards that should be retained. However, some of the code's provisions are outdated, poorly organized or unclear. Additionally, there are several gaps in the codes, particularly in relation to subdivision, site and building design, that create more contentious development review processes and unpredictable or undesirable development outcomes.

Key Deficiencies. Initial conversations lauded County efforts to improve the development review and approval processes, but pointed to three key obstacles that the County is in the process of addressing as described below the following list:

- Lack of a clearly articulated vision of the County's hopes and expectations;
- Insufficient staff resources to carry out both day-to-day responsibilities and keep up with growth and development pressures; and
- Lack of clear procedures and standards that can be relied upon by development applicants, reviewers, public decision-makers and neighbors affected by proposed development.

Comprehensive Plan. The comprehensive plan update should establish a vision for the future, establish goals and measurable objectives towards achieving those goals, and set policies for managing growth in ways that preserve or enhance the quality of life in Bryan County. The Plan should clearly identify the challenges facing the County and establish strategies to address those challenges. The land use element of the plan should include a future land use map and descriptions of land uses that will guide the location, intensity and character of residential, commercial and industrial development. Upon completion, the plan should clearly articulate the County's expectations for future growth and development.

Staff Resources. The County also is addressing its staffing needs – seeking additional support for the County Engineer and assessing the needs for additional support in the development review process.

Code Diagnostic. This memo is an initial step towards addressing the third concern listed above – part of a process to evaluate the County's development regulations and practices. While subsequent sections make additional recommendations, the most obvious opportunity is for Bryan County to consolidate, reorganize and update its development codes to create more efficient, more predictable and less contentious development procedures that produce outcomes that are more consistent with the County's goals and objectives.

Key Recommendations. As described in more detail in later sections, this memo recommends that the County prepare and adopt an interim development ordinance (IDO) to address a number of critical regulatory issues before beginning a comprehensive code revision process to create a unified development ordinance (UDO). An IDO, which is an alternative to a moratorium, allows for greater scrutiny of specific aspects of development during a transitional period (usually 1-2 years), while permanent regulations are being developed and enacted. Bryan County's IDO should improve subdivision, site plan and variance review procedures and design standards. Comprehensive code revision should improve the usability of the County's development regulations through improved organization and formatting, clearer language and the addition of graphics that illustrate procedures and standards.

General Code Issues

The organization of the County's codes unnecessarily complicates their use by applicants, staff and decision-makers in several ways:

Scattered Regulations. Most of the County's development regulations are in the zoning ordinance (Chapter 12), subdivision regulations (Chapter 13) and engineering design standards (Chapter 19). Additional provisions affecting growth and development are included in the environmental regulations (Chapter 6), highways (Chapter 10), building code (Chapter 11), road naming (Chapter 17), telecommunications antenna and tower (Chapter 25), sign ordinance (Chapter 29), sewer and water (Chapter 30), and small system groundwater wells (Chapter 31).

Recommendation: The code would benefit by consolidating Chapters 12 and 13 into a unified development ordinance (UDO). Selected provisions from the above chapters should also be incorporated into the UDO or cross-referenced. Chapter 19 should become an appendix to the UDO. See **Attachment A** for a draft outline of a

Lack of Cross-References. Use of any one of these documents requires information from the other documents but there are few cross-references; for instance:

- The zoning ordinance includes non-conforming use provisions addressing RPAR lots as
 defined in the ordinance, but the only place that these Recognized Private Access Road lots
 are discussed is within the subdivision regulations.
- The subdivision regulations include standards for lot development that are tied to specific districts established in the zoning ordinance.
- Standards for tree protection and buffers, which are directly related to subdivision and site development are located within the engineering design standards.

Recommendation: Include hyperlinked cross-references to sections within the proposed UDO and unlinked cross-references to external code provisions.

Exhibit 2-5: Approval Process Summary

UDO Amendment Process

Application, Review and Notice

Planning Board Public Hearing

Town Council Public Hearing

Exhibit 2-6: Timing

Unclear Procedures and Responsibilities. Within the subdivision regulations and zoning ordinance, procedures and responsibilities are disbursed throughout the documents in ways that make it difficult to find applicable provisions. For instance, initial provisions assign responsibility for zoning map amendments to the Board of County Commissioners; only later in the ordinance is the role of the Planning and Zoning Board identified.

| UDO Amendment Timing | | | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Completeness Review | 5 business days (from Application Submittal) | | | | |
| Planning Board Public Hearing Notice | 25 days (from Completeness Certification) | | | | |
| Planning Board Decision | 30 days (from Planning Board Public Hearing) | | | | |
| Town Council Public Hearing | 30 days (from Planning Board Decision) | | | | |
| Town Council Decision | 30 days (from Town Council Public Hearing) | | | | |

Recommendation: Consolidate all procedural requirements into a single article of the proposed UDO. Supplement text with tables and flow charts to clearly convey procedures, requirements and responsibilities. (see examples above and below)

Unclear Guidance on Public Facility Impacts. Growth can be an asset or liability to the County and other service providers. Not all growth pays its own way. Development with high traffic generation rates that is in remote areas may require extensive local investments in streets and other transportation improvements. Remote development requiring centralized water and sewer services may require significantly higher capital and operations costs than more appropriately located development. Development approval criteria should consider the adequacy of public facilities and impacts of the development on County's ability to provide, fund and operate needed facilities.

Recommendation: Incorporate consideration of fiscal impacts into discretionary decisions such as plan amendments, zoning map amendments and development agreements.

Lack of Design Guidance. Bryan County enjoys a high quality of life and a beautiful natural setting that residents value. The lack of clear design standards in the County's development regulations has resulted in a more contentious and less predictable development review process as design issues are increasingly dealt with on an ad hoc basis. This means that applicants and their neighbors do not always know what will be required and the County is often uncertain that the outcomes of the development process will meet community standards. One of the more difficult challenges that the County faces will be to establish design

standards that accommodate housing choice, while ensuring that new neighborhoods will be long-term community assets.

Recommendation: Incorporate development patterns, design standards for residential and commercial site development into a new UDO. To address existing deficiencies in design standards while the UDO is being developed, the County should adopt design guidelines addressing the most critical needs as part of an IDO.

Zoning Ordinance

Overview

The zoning ordinance language is generally written in a defensible manner, but, as mentioned above, the organization of the zoning ordinance could be improved dramatically by grouping development procedures, responsibilities for code administration and administrative provisions rather than scattering them throughout the ordinance. In addition to the organizational issues, the zoning ordinance lacks several key provisions that typically fall within zoning ordinances. Site development standards, such as landscaping and buffering are only included in the subdivision regulations or engineering and design standards, but their absence from the zoning ordinance in text or via cross-references makes the zoning ordinance more difficult to use and raises questions about their applicability to site development. Building and site design standards addressing scale, orientation and other elements of building form are not addressed. Finally, improvements in the formatting of the codes, including additional tables and illustrations, would make the procedures and standards much easier to understand and use for applicants, the public and County decision-makers.

Procedures and Responsibilities

Exhibit 1 summarizes zoning ordinance procedures and responsibilities. While some of the appeals bodies are listed, others have been inferred. In the case of the Planning Commission, the zoning ordinance includes two reserved sections for the "Powers of" and "Appeals to" the County Commission (sections 500 and 501), but elsewhere the Commission is assigned responsibility the tasks listed in **Exhibit 1**. In the case of the County Commission, the zoning ordinance includes two reserved sections for the "Powers of" and "Appeals to" the County Commission (sections 502 and 503), but elsewhere the Commission is assigned to specific responsibilities for action on zoning text amendments and zoning map amendments.

Recommendation: Clarify responsibilities for development reviews, recommendations, actions and appeals in a single article of the UDO that focuses on development procedures.

Exhibit 1: Zoning Ordinance Procedures and Responsibilities

| Application Type | Reviews | Recommendations | Approvals | Appeals |
|-------------------------------|----------------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Comprehensive Plan | Planning Department | Planning | County | Superior Court |
| Amendments | | Commission | Commission | of Bryan |
| | | | | County |
| Zoning Text Amendments | Planning Department | | County | Superior Court |
| | | | Commission | of Bryan |
| | | | | County |
| New Zoning Map Adoption | | | County | Superior Court |
| | | | Commission | of Bryan |
| | | | | County |
| Zoning Map Amendments | Planning Department, | Planning | County | Superior Court |
| | Engineering and | Commission | Commission | of Bryan |
| | Inspections | | | County |
| | Department, Board of | | | |
| | Education | | | |
| Planned Unit | Planning Director | Planning | County | Superior Court |
| Developments | | Commission | Commission | of Bryan |
| | | | | County |
| Variances | | | Planning | Superior Court |
| | | | Director after | of Bryan |
| | | | public hearing | County |
| Appeals to Staff Actions | | | Planning | Board of |
| and Interpretations | | | Department | Appeals |
| Zoning Map Interpretation | | | Planning | Board of |
| | | | Director | Appeals |
| Building Permits | | | Planning | |
| | | | Director | |
| Certificates of Occupancy | | | Planning | Board of |
| | | | Director | Appeals |
| Non-Conforming Lots, | | | Planning | Board of |
| commercial and residential | | | Director | Appeals |
| structures, mobile homes, | | | | |
| accessory structures, RPAR | | | | |
| lots, secondary living units, | | | | |

The most unusual aspect of the established zoning procedures is that the Planning Director is responsible for conducting public hearings on and deciding upon variance applications. Board of Appeals functions are limited in the zoning ordinance to hearing appeals from staff decisions. Most communities also assign responsibility for granting variances to Boards of Appeals. Delegating variances to the Board of Appeals would eliminate the awkward situation that currently exists, where the Planning Director reviews variance applications, conducts a public hearing on the applications, decides whether the variance meets applicable criteria and then enforces the decision. Because variances should only apply to a very limited set of circumstances, the ordinance should clearly distinguish hardship-based variances from exceptions that the Planning Director can grant under narrowly defined conditions (e.g., adjusting setbacks by up to a specified distance for tree preservation, improved mobility or better site design).

Recommendation: Establish distinct procedures for variances and ministerial relief (exceptions) in an IDO and carry these forward in the UDO. Variances should be decided by the Planning and Zoning Commission, with appeals going to District Court. As an option, during the life of the IDO, the ordinance could provide for appeals to the Board of County Commissioners before District Court review.

Apparent Gaps in the Zoning Ordinance

While the zoning ordinance addresses many procedural, administrative and site development matters, the ordinance has the following deficiencies:

- Mixed-use guidance is becoming increasingly important as demand for walkable neighborhoods by Baby Boomers and Millennials has increased. Bryan County allows for mixed-use development through the PUD, but does not provide any guidance on how to compatibly integrate residential and non-residential uses.
- 2. Compatibility standards other than setbacks are missing from the zoning ordinance. While provisions for exterior buffers are established in the engineering design standards, the County should consider the addition of context sensitive standards addressing setbacks, buffers, height transitions, building orientation (which way doors and windows face) and other building and site design factors. Compatibility should be defined so that it facilitates transitions between differing land uses and intensities of development.
- 3. Design and scale are two critical determinants of non-residential character that are generally not addressed in the commercial district standards. The County should consider adopting standards to ensure that commercial development is consistent with its aesthetic values and compatible with adjacent development. More explicit design standards can be crafted to accommodate design flexibility through a combination of exceptions and a formalized site plan appeals process.
- 4. **Height regulations** do not address how building height is measured. This becomes a more critical factor with accessory structures and in areas where buildings are elevated to minimize flood risks.
- 5. **Landscaping** standards are largely absent from the zoning ordinance.
- 6. Tree preservation standards are established in the engineering design standards rather than the zoning ordinance where they are more traditionally located. Consolidation of the regulations would address this issue. The required percentages of canopy cover should be reviewed for non-residential development to ensure that sites can be efficiently developed.
- 7. Conformity with Comprehensive Plan is referenced within the zoning ordinance, but it is not defined. The ordinance should more clearly define the role of comprehensive plan in guiding decisions. One common requirement is for zoning decisions to be consistent with the future land use map, which forces the County to keep their comprehensive plan in sync with development decisions and tends to yield better coordination between land use and infrastructure improvement decisions.

- 8. Parcels with more than one zoning district are not addressed within the zoning ordinance. Typically, ordinances establish rules guiding development under these circumstances. While most ordinances provide some discretion based on the map, the City of Richmond Hills recently adopted unified development ordinance assigns the least intensive zoning classification to the entire track affected by the split.
- 9. **Minor amendments** to approvals of the County Commission are prohibited in the zoning ordinance. Increasingly, ordinances are including distinctions between minor amendments that can be granted by staff and major amendments that would require subsequent action by the County Commission. Most planned unit developments (PUDs) and many site plans require some adjustments between the approved concept plan and the final development. The County could enable staff to coordinate with the applicant to make minor adjustments (e.g., parking lot and driveway changes, internal road realignments, internal lot line shifts, increases in open spaces and buffers, and internal changes to bikeway alignments), when those changes would have no impact on nearby property owners or the function of the development.
- 10. Timelines for staff review of zoning map amendments, zoning permits and site plans are not established within the zoning ordinance. Such timelines would make the process more predictable for applicants and other stakeholders.
- 11. Yards and setbacks are not adequately distinguished, though both terms are used within the zoning ordinance. A setback is the minimum distance between a structure and a lot line, while a yard is the entire area between the building and the lot line, which may include courtyards and other open areas. This distinction is most important when addressing what may or may not be located within a front yard (e.g., storage, mechanical equipment, parking).
- 12. Junk yard regulations do not limit the height of stacks of junk or relate buffers to the operations (e.g., crushing and processing) occurring within the junk yard. A fence or buffer that is eight-feet tall provides little screening of a stack of vehicles that is twenty-feet tall.
- 13. **Parking space standards** limit the use of shared parking where uses have different peak parking demands. This results in excess parking spaces, increased impervious surface and loss of landscape area. Additionally, off-site parking standards are overly restrictive for traditional neighborhood developments which may provide for off-site parking at distances greater than 300 feet. While parking standards are consistent with those for many other jurisdictions, they tend to require more parking than necessary.
- 14. **Parking design standards** are not clearly established in the zoning ordinance. Aisle widths, space dimensions and driveways dramatically affect the function of a parking lot, yet the ordinance is silent on these factors. Additionally, the ordinance does not make allowances for pervious pavement or other surfaces that may be more consistent with the County's environmental and stormwater management objectives.
- 15. Design credit is a great concept in the County's zoning ordinance that should be broadened to allow for incentives other than merely reducing lot widths. The County should consider providing greater flexibility for setbacks, lot area, height and density to entice developers to provide the amenities listed in this section.

- 16. Zoning district use lists are incomplete; while the table of permitted and conditional uses is helpful for residential districts, there is no corresponding table of uses for non-residential districts. Increasingly common uses such as food trucks and short-term vacation rentals are not addressed in the zoning ordinance.
- 17. **Front setbacks are excessive in some settings**. While larger front setbacks may be appropriate for residential structures along higher volume roads, the setbacks for local (36 ft.) and minor local (30 ft.) roads preclude some residential development patterns that could better serve the needs of older residents and create safer streets, improve mobility and reduce environmental impacts. One option would be to tie reduced front setbacks to the design credits.
- 18. Temporary certificates of occupancy are not authorized under the current ordinance. These are typically allowed when landscaping or other site improvements need to be deferred due to inclement weather or drought. While the County's engineering design standards anticipate this need, the zoning ordinance does not authorize this common practice.
- 19. **Floodplain regulations** are typically cross-referenced when not located within the zoning ordinance. They often appear within zoning ordinances because flood hazard areas are treated as zoning overlay districts.
- 20. The planned unit development district (PUD) regulations in section 1200 clearly establish the district's purposes, but provide little design guidance other than the open space standards. While flexibility and procedural clarity are important elements of a PUD, the lack of design guidance can yield widely different outcomes. Increasingly, communities are defining development patterns¹ that serve as flexible templates for planned unit developments, and yield more consistent quality of development. Because PUDs tend to be large scale and often multi-phase developments, the final development typically deviates from the initial approval. By distinguishing major and minor amendments as discussed above, the County can eliminate the need for public hearings to review minor amendments that have no impact on adjacent development.
- 21. **Exemption from zoning analysis** is provided for lots smaller than 20 acres that are within the WM-2 or B-1 zoning districts. These districts are likely to be smaller and in closer proximity to neighborhoods, so the analysis seems to be especially relevant.
- 22. **Mobile homes** are distinct and much more poorly constructed from manufactured homes. The County should not allow the placement of a mobile home for habitation, because these units (which were built prior to 1976 by Federal definition) pose much greater risks to inhabitants from fire and storms. Replacement with manufactured homes should be allowed.
- 23. **Non-conforming lot, use and structure regulations** are very detailed and establish subtle differences between classes of non-conformities that seem unnecessarily complex.

1/30/18

¹Common development patterns include traditional neighborhood developments, conservation subdivisions, alternative lot designs, transit supportive development and mixed-use centers.

24. **Traffic impact analysis** is not adequately addressed in either the zoning or subdivision regulations. The development codes should have clear triggers for analysis, rational standards for reviewing the analysis and specific mitigation standards.

Recommendations: Each of the above deficiencies should be resolved in a new UDO. The County should consider addressing the following issues in the proposed IDO:

- Design guidelines (see previous recommendations) should address compatible land use transitions through buffering, height, scale and site design guidelines;
- Design credits should be expanded to allow for lot area reductions, setback flexibility and density bonuses for provision of additional amenities within a development;
- The site plan review process should be clarified, with approvals tied to the IDO's design guidelines. Procedures should clearly distinguish major and minor amendments for site plans that require action by the Planning and Zoning Commission and/or Board of County Commissioners; and
- Traffic impact analysis requirements should be established for site developments and subdivisions generating threshold volumes of traffic. These standards should distinguish between projects requiring no analysis, projects that require traffic study of adjacent roads and intersections, and projects that require more in-depth analysis of the impacts throughout defined traffic-sheds.

Subdivision Regulations

Generally

Bryan County's subdivision regulations are generally defensible, but were drafted to address smaller scale, single use subdivisions and their development. They address many key aspects of land subdivision that many jurisdictions overlook (e.g., private improvements, public improvement warrantees, reimbursement of certain fees, pending subdivisions and abbreviated subdivision processes). They also address provisions that are more commonly found in zoning ordinances (e.g., buffering, lot standards and block standards). There are good arguments to be made for including these provisions in the subdivision regulations, but their absence from zoning limits their applicability to single-lot development. As with the zoning ordinance, the subdivision regulations lack design guidance for a variety of residential, non-residential and mixed-use development patterns. This tends to promote the engineering of lot patterns to maximize profits rather than fostering designs of sustainable neighborhoods.

Recommendation: Combine and expand site and subdivision design standards in a UDO and clarify their applicability. Design guidelines should be included in the IDO to address the current lack of standards while the UDO and the recommended design standards are being developed.

The most significant problem with the subdivision process is the union of preliminary plat and construction plan approval. The preliminary plat is the first opportunity for public review of a proposed subdivision. By requiring all engineering to be completed prior to the plat's vetting, the applicant has significant investments that have been made in the proposed design and may face significant costs for re-engineering streets, drainage or utilities if even minor changes are made to the plat. A more conventional and workable process is to review and act on the preliminary plat and require staff approval of construction plans prior to final plat review.

Recommendations: Update the subdivision review process in the IDO and subsequently in the UDO to separate construction plan approval from preliminary plat approval. Construction plans should be approved by the County Engineer. Revisions to the subdivision process should create a ministerial (staff) approval process for minor subdivisions (e.g., lot splits and plat corrections, conveyance plats and other divisions of land that do not require public improvements).

Subdivision Design Standards

Road standards in section 502 are generally adequate, though they should address roundabouts and provide context-sensitive standards for road offsets. Standards prohibiting new lots on recognized private access roads (RPAR lots) could be adjusted to permit a limited number of lots on shared drives in more rural settings and to properties abutting marshlands that do not justify additional road construction.

Pedestrian way standards in section 507 should be modified. Basing the square footage of pedestrian ways on the number of lots does not account for the location or design of the subdivision or pedestrian way.

Maximum block lengths in section 509 of 1,800 feet are very long and do not promote mobility. In circumstances where long blocks are unavoidable, pedestrian crosswalks should be required. The ordinance also fails to establish maximum lengths for cul de sac streets.

Secondary access is not addressed in the ordinance, which has resulted in the creation of large subdivisions that would be completely cut off from emergency services if a tree falls or an accident occurs. With one road in and one road out, all residents depend on the same intersection for all trips, which dramatically reduces emergency access and makes day-to-day trips less convenient.

Subdivision buffers in section 514 seem to be limited to the perimeter of subdivisions and are unrelated to the abutting uses or potential phasing of subdivisions. Buffers based on abutting road types make sense in conjunction with the design flexibility provided in subsequent sections, but the provisions ignore buffers and other design enhancements that ensure compatibility between differing housing types and land uses.

Recreation standards in section 517 create an incentive to establish subdivisions of 9 or fewer lots to avoid having to provide recreation space. Jurisdictions with public recreation facilities often establish fee-in-lieu provisions for parks and open space that are applied to smaller subdivisions and establish a more equitable system of funding needed recreational facilities.

Engineering design standards are included in Chapter 19 of the County Code. While a more thorough review of these standards is under way, many of the standards are outdated and should reference or be replaced by best practices for improvements to streets, trails, stormwater management, utilities and other improvements. The lack of construction details and cross-sections for streets and drainage improvements has yielded inconsistent designs between projects, which complicates the development review process and could lead to future maintenance and repair challenges. Focus group participants expressed the most concern about street elevation requirements that increased development costs and often necessitated excess site clearing to ensure that drainage systems function.

Recommendation: The County's engineering design standards fall into two categories – lot layout and improvement standards. The lot layout standards should be included within the UDO and current deficiencies related to mobility, access and open space should be addressed in the proposed design guidelines for the IDO. A new construction improvement design manual should be created to replace Chapter 19 of the County's code. This manual should be ratified by the Board, but should be separate from the County Code to allow greater flexibility for the County Engineer to accommodate best engineering practices. These updates should begin immediately and may proceed independently of the IDO and UDO processes. Both the IDO and the UDO need to establish rules for the application, modification and periodic update of public improvement design standards.

Subdivision Procedures

Generally. The subdivision review process is relatively conventional, but could do a better job of addressing large-scale phased developments. The process is efficient for conventional subdivisions, but requires significant expenditure on the part of applicants prior to receiving any approvals from the County Commission.

Sketch Plan. It is relatively common to have optional or mandatory sketch plan review process. This provides a low-cost way for applicants to identify staff concerns about potential subdivisions before significant funds are spent on more detailed design. However, these reviews have no legal status and do not assure that subsequent approvals will be granted. For large-scale and phased developments, the applicant would benefit from the option to secure conceptual approval of the use and density of proposed developments. This is done for non-residential development through the site plan process at rezoning or through the first phase of the PUD application with the Planning Commission and the County Commission, but there is no mechanism for public review and comment of sketch plans or concept plans in the subdivision regulations. This means that the first public review occurs when the preliminary plat and constructions plans are submitted, so any changes can result in significant additional design costs. If an additional process is created, the regulations should clearly state the effect of the review and resulting action. Concept plan approval, which may be optional or mandatory, may identify permitted uses, maximum intensities of each use and the general road layout, which can facilitate project financing for the Preliminary Plat phase of development.

Recommendation: Include a sketch plan process in the UDO that is optional for most subdivisions, but mandatory for multi-phase developments. The purposes will be to assess the general road layout, land uses and intensities for consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and to identify needs related to the phasing of the development.

Preliminary Plat. The preliminary plat and construction plans are submitted and reviewed concurrently. County Commission approval is required before site development can begin. As noted above, the preliminary plat review provides the sole opportunity for public review and action on a subdivision. Requiring construction plan approval in conjunction with preliminary plat review and approval is counter-productive; creating strong fiscal incentives for applicants to resist minor changes to a preliminary plat that would make the subdivision a safer, more convenient and more desirable place for future residents. Construction plans should be approved independently from the preliminary plat.

Recommendation: See earlier recommendation for separation of the preliminary plat and construction plan approval processes in both the IDO and UDO.

Improvement Guarantees. The subdivision regulations do not adequately address improvement guarantees. Section 902 requires improvements to be warranted for one-year after acceptance of improvements, which may be in the form of a letter of credit, maintenance bond or monetary pledge. One of the problems that this section creates is that one year is inadequate for some construction deficiencies to appear. Another problem is that for larger projects, heavy construction equipment can continue to damage roadways for several years after completion of a roadway, which can require the County to rebuild or repair roads in newly constructed subdivisions. This is particularly problematic in multi-phase developments. Finally, the option for a monetary pledge is vague and has been interpreted by some applicants to be satisfied by merely drafting a letter promising to pay for needed improvements and repairs.

Recommendation: While updating the subdivision procedures during development of the IDO, adjust subdivision improvement maintenance guarantees to adequately address street improvements, particularly for multi-phase developments.

Final Plat. Approval of the final plat is a staff function that may occur when improvements are completed or guarantees that the improvements will be constructed are provided. No option for bonding or cash deposit is established, but given the relatively low cost of letters of credit, this is generally the preferred option for applicants. While this process makes sense for small to medium sized developments, large PUDs and Developments of Regional Impact (DRIs) often are accompanied by development agreements that establish the rights and responsibilities of the applicant and the County related to the development and the infrastructure required to adequately serve it. The addition of provisions for County Commission approval of development agreements prior to or in conjunction with final plat approval under certain circumstances would provide more security for both the County and applicants.

Short-Form Subdivisions. Article XV establishes an abbreviated process for the following type of subdivisions which may be approved by the Planning Director with no public review:

 All lots are ten or more acres, no subdivision improvements are required and no building permits may be issued for the parcels All parcels are 100 acres are greater. Such plats are reviewed and approved by the Planning Director.

These circumstances are primarily for the conveyance of large parcels and are not intended to result in development. Some jurisdictions allow for short-form subdivisions under conditions in which no public improvements are required other than the extension of water and/or sewer to the resulting lots. This can greatly reduce the cost of subdivisions in rural settings, but by doing so, can also encourage rural residential development.

Recommendations: Within the IDO and subsequently the UDO, expand provisions to allow for ministerial approval of minor subdivisions.

Pedestrian Ways, Recreation and Buffer Committee

The subdivision regulations establish a 3-member committee to review proposals for alternative pedestrian way plans, alternative buffer plans and alternative recreation plans. The County Administrator and the County Engineer serve on the committee with a third member appointed by the County Commission. This is a creative process to provide design flexibility in the development process in an open manner that does not bog down County Commission meetings on preliminary plats.

Board of Appeals

Article XXIII establishes a Board of Appeals to hear appeals to staff actions on certain items in the subdivision ordinance. The regulations are unclear whether this is the same or a different body than the Board of Appeals formed under the Zoning Ordinance.

Recommendation: During the creation of the IDO and variance processes, clarify the roles of the Board of Appeals to address variances and appeals to certain staff decisions. Consider assigning the Board's responsibilities to the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Next Steps

The recommendations embedded in this memorandum call for three initiatives that will have different time-frames and processes – an Interim Development Ordinance, update of the engineering design standards, and preparation of a Unified Development Ordinance. The following sections provide general guidance for the scheduling and processes to be used for each of these initiatives.

Interim Development Ordinance Preparation.

By definition an interim development ordinance is a temporary set of regulations that address critical needs while the long-term solution is being created. The long-term solution is the drafting of a unified development ordinance, which should take 12-18 months, depending on the public process (see discussion below). The critical needs for the IDO identified by participants in the code evaluation process include:

- 1. Site and building design guidelines² for residential and non-residential structures and site development;
- 2. Revised variance review and approval procedures and standards;
- 3. Staff relief to certain zoning and site development standards;
- 4. Staff and public review procedures and approval criteria for site development plans;
- New and expanded standards and procedures authorizing staff approval of minor subdivisions;
- 6. Traffic impact analysis that is appropriate to the scale and potential impacts of affected development;
- 7. Revisions to major subdivision procedures to:
 - a. Provide ministerial approval of construction plans and create an appeals process;
 - b. Authorize consent approval of final plats that are consistent with preliminary plant approvals by the Board of County Commissioners; and
 - c. Establish procedures and standards for development agreement review and approval; and
- 8. Rules for adoption, amendment, administration and appeals to public improvement design standards; and
- 9. Definitions and staff approval criteria for minor amendments to planned developments, site plans, and preliminary plats.

A preliminary review draft of an IDO addressing the above issues should be presented at a Planning and Zoning Commission workshop that provides the opportunity for public questions and comments. After amendments based on the feedback from the public and the Commission's recommendations, the IDO should be forwarded to the Board of County Commissioners for public hearing, deliberation and action. The preliminary review draft can be prepared in about a month and the subsequent public review process can be accomplished in as little as 45 days, which means that the IDO could be in effect by the end of the first quarter of 2018.

The IDO should be adopted for a term of 24 months, with the option for extensions to allow for potential delays in the process of drafting the recommended UDO. A draft scope for the process is included in **Attachment B**.

Public Improvements Design Manual

Chapter 19 of the County Code currently includes a mix of engineering design standards, zoning regulations and subdivision requirements. As recommended above, this document should be prepared as an appendix to the UDO. The IDO should include the language incorporating revised Public Improvements Design Manual by reference, and establishing rules for administration, appeals and amendments. The manual itself should be developed under supervision of the County Engineer to ensure that improvement design standards address the County's water, wastewater, transportation and stormwater management challenges while creating systems that are resilient, cost-effective, easily maintained and efficient to operate.

² Guidelines are not as specific or detailed as design standards. They will enable staff review of site and plot plans unless the applicant chooses to appeal staff requirements to the Planning & Zoning Commission or Board of County Commissioners.

Unified Development Code

Scope. The IDO is a temporary ordinance that serves as a bridge between current development regulations and their replacements in the UDO. Earlier sections of this memo identify the strengths and weaknesses of the County's existing development regulations and propose the reorganization of those regulations to create a code that is easier to use, easier to administer and better suited to the challenges facing Bryan County. This section discusses how the UDO should be developed. A draft scope for development of the UDO is included as **Attachment C** to this memo.

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan. To be effective, the UDO must reflect the County's needs, values, aspirations and resources. Many of the needs have been highlighted above and others will be identified in the current Comprehensive Planning process. The Planning process will also identify the County's values and aspirations in the form of a vision for the future, more detailed goals and objectives that move the County closer to achieving the vision and goals. The Plan will guide many decisions and will inform decision-makers when evaluating major development decisions that shape the character of the County for future generations.

Steering Committee Role. The UDO revision process should build upon the findings and recommendations from the Comprehensive Planning initiative so that the UDO facilitates development that helps achieve local goals and impedes development that is inconsistent with the Plan's goals. While the Plan will not be completed before development of the IDO, it should be a primary resource during the development of the UDO. Citizens who helped define the Plan's vision and goals should be involved in the development of the UDO to ensure consistency with the Plan's broad directives. The County has the option of ensuring this involvement through creation of a policy-oriented steering committee or through periodic community workshops under the supervision of the Planning and Zoning Commission. The steering committee option has the benefit of allowing for inclusion of a much broader range of stakeholders. If this option is chosen, the County should consider appointing at least one member of the Planning and Zoning Commission to the steering committee.

Technical Advisory Team. Unlike the Comprehensive Plan, the UDO involves many technical issues that have significant, but not always obvious impacts on the resulting land uses. Small changes in design may have dramatic impacts on site and neighborhood character. Procedures and standards influence the viability of development and the cost of on-going service provision in sometimes subtle ways. For this reason, the County should form a technical advisory team with responsibility to inform UDO related recommendations to the Board of County Commissioners from the steering committee and the Planning and Zoning Commission. This team should be comprised of key County staff members, representatives from other service providers, and design professionals with expertise in architecture, landscape architecture and engineering.

Schedule. The UDO is a complex document that arises from myriad interrelated decisions. The drafting, review and revision process can be compressed to a period of as little as twelve months if the County has adequate staff to review drafts and support consultant and committee activities. Given the heavy workloads on existing staff, the County should plan for an 18-month process that is generally divided into the following phases:



Phase 1: Selecting Regulatory Strategies – this phase involves the refinement of the UDO outline presented in Attachment A of this memo and the identification of beneficial refinements to the procedures, standards and guidelines presented in the IDO.

Phase 2: Assembling the Unified Development
Ordinance – this phase involves the drafting of the
code, extensive review of the drafts for consistency
with the Comprehensive Plan's goals and refinement
of existing and new development procedures and
standards.

Phase 3: Finalizing, Adopting and Implementing the UDO – this phase involves informal public review and the formal adoption process. Another critical element of this task is training staff and decision-making bodies on the changes affecting development review and decision-making.

Attachment A: Unified Development Code Outline

Note: the following outline is a preliminary outline of the provisions that should be addressed within Bryan County's Unified Development Ordinance, which should replace Chapters 12 and 13 of the existing code. Modifications should be anticipated throughout the UDO revision process.

Article 1: Code Administration

Title

Purpose

Authority

Jurisdiction

Organization

Interpretation

Applicability

Coordination with Other Documents

Code Administration – assigns responsibilities for administering code

Penalties

Severability

Article 2: Procedures

Division 1: Generally

Purpose

Procedural Requirements

Approvals Required

Authority to Condition Development Approvals

Types of Development Approvals

Completeness Review

Failure to Act

Approvals

Phased Development

Notice

Exemption from the Code

Legislative Hearing Procedures

Quasi-Judicial Hearing Procedures

Division 2: Approvals Requiring Hearings

Comprehensive Plan Amendments

Code Text/Map Amendments (Rezonings)

Planned Development

Regulation of Subdivisions, Generally

Major Subdivisions

Conditional Use Permits

Variances

Appeals

Vested Rights Determination

Development Approval Revocation

Vacation of Streets or Alleys

Division 3: Ministerial Development Approvals

Adoption and Amendment of Technical Standards

Minor Subdivision

Vacation of Easements or Plats

Plats, Amending

Zoning Permits

Land Disturbance Permits

Building Permits

Certificates of Occupancy

Floodplain Development Permits

Sign Permits

Driveway Permit / Right-of-Way Permits

Home Occupation Permits

Temporary Use Permits

Administrative Relief

Article 3: Zoning Districts and Uses

Division 1: Zoning Generally

Purpose

Overview and Applicability

Establishment of Zoning Districts

Zoning Map

Division 2: Base Zoning Districts

Division 3: Overlay Districts

Division 4: Use Matrix and Interpretation

Article 4: Supplemental Conditions for Specified Uses

Includes all standards associated with specific uses, including cemetery, telecommunication facility standards, all uses described in article X of the zoning ordinance and other uses not currently addressed (e.g., short-term vacation rentals, food trucks and mixed-use buildings).

Article 5: Site Development Standards

Division 1: Lot Development Standards

Division 2: Off-street Parking and Loading

Division 3: Landscaping, Tree Preservation, Buffering and Screening

Division 4: Open Space

Division 5: Signs

Article 6: Development Patterns

Includes standards for different development patterns, such as traditional neighborhood development, conservation subdivisions, business parks, and corporate campuses.

Article 7: Floodplain Management

Includes updates to floodplain development standards

Article 8: Stormwater Management

Includes provisions for soil erosion and sedimentation control, as well as drainage and stormwater management requirements

Article 9: Streets and Trails

Includes all provisions for street layout, access and design, in addition to provisions for sidewalks, trails and greenways.

Article 10: Utilities

Includes provisions for water, sewer, electric, gas and telecommunications utilities.

Article 11: Non-Conforming Situations

Addresses standards for the certification, continuance and termination of non-conforming uses, buildings and lots.

Article 12: Interpretation and Definitions

Rules of Construction

Interpretation

Abbreviations

Definitions

Appendices

- A. Table of Amendments to Code Text
- B. Table of Amendments to Zoning Map
- C. Public Improvements Design Manual discussion item I propose that we separate construction design details from the layout and installation requirements in Articles 8-10 above. These will be administered and periodically updated by the County Engineer pursuant to the Adoption of Technical standards section in Article 2, Division 3.
- D. Development Applications

Attachment B: Draft Scope of Services for Preparation of an Interim Development Ordinance

Project Objective

Draft an interim development ordinance (IDO) that addresses the most critical short-term needs identified in this memo. Specifically, the IDO will establish:

- 1. Site and building design guidelines³ for residential and non-residential structures and site development;
- 2. Revised variance review and approval procedures and standards;
- 3. Staff relief to certain zoning and site development standards;
- 4. Staff and public review procedures and approval criteria for site development plans;
- New and expanded standards and procedures authorizing staff approval of minor subdivisions;
- Traffic impact analysis that is appropriate to the scale and potential impacts of affected development;
- 7. Revisions to major subdivision procedures to:
 - a. Provide ministerial approval of construction plans and create an appeals process;
 - b. Authorize consent approval of final plats that are consistent with preliminary plant approvals by the Board of County Commissioners; and
 - c. Establish procedures and standards for development agreement review and approval; and
- 8. Rules for adoption, amendment, administration and appeals to public improvement design standards; and
- 9. Definitions and staff approval criteria for minor amendments to planned developments, site plans, and preliminary plats.

Task 1 - IDO Outline

Consultant will prepare an annotated outline of proposed amendments to affected sections of the existing code to accomplish the above changes to the County's existing development regulations. The outline will describe the substantive changes to existing provisions; the sections to be amended, created or repealed to implement the above changes; and regulatory alternatives that are most relevant to the County's regulatory needs. Following staff review, Consultant will revise the outline for staff to affirm proposed changes and incorporate preferred regulatory alternatives prior to beginning Task 2.

Task 2 – IDO Draft

Consultant will draft provisions to the IDO in legislative format indicating repealed, edited and newly created sections of the County's development regulations in redline and strikeout format. Following initial staff review and resulting revisions and refinements to the redlined version, Consultant will provide clean copy highlighting new provisions to facilitate public review.

³ Guidelines are not as specific or detailed as design standards. They will enable staff review of site and plot plans unless the applicant chooses to appeal staff requirements to the Planning & Zoning Commission or Board of County Commissioners.

Task 3 – IDO Workshop

Consultant will facilitate a workshop of the Planning and Zoning Commission to present the proposed IDO, highlight the implications of the ordinance and address questions and comments from the Commission and attendees. Following this workshop, Consultant will prepare amendments in consultation with County staff.

[Options here include joint workshop, separate meetings with Board members on the same trip and a separate public workshop outside of the P&Z workshop.]

Task 4 - Planning and Zoning Commission Hearing

Consultant will provide public hearing support and will prepare a summary of amendments recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Task 5 - Board of County Commissioners Hearing

Consultant will provide support at one public hearing and will incorporate amendments adopted by the Board in a final document to be used during the life of the IDO.

Attachment C: Draft Scope of Services for Preparation of a Unified Development Ordinance

Phase 1: Selecting Regulatory Strategies

Task 1.1 UDO Outline Review

After reviewing the project scope and facilitating discussion of the Steering Committee's roles and responsibilities, Consultant will present the working UDO outline and highlight significant regulatory changes that are anticipated in the new UDO to the Steering Committee in a kickoff workshop. Annotations will highlight alternative standards and procedures that should be considered in subsequent workshops.

Task 1.2 Code Building Forum #1 - Technical Framework

Consultant will conduct a 2-day forum focusing on the UDO's technical framework, including the proposed reorganization. Separate meetings will be conducted with the Technical Advisory Team, the Steering Committee and the public in discussions of the following topics:

- Procedures, Administration, Special Purpose Regulations and Zoning Districts
- Development Standards and Improvement Requirements

Task 1.3 Code Building Forum #2 – Design Framework

Consultant will facilitate a two-day forum focusing on the UDO's design framework. Separate meetings will be conducted with the Technical Advisory Team, the Steering Committee and the public in discussions of the following topics:

- Building Design
- Subdivision Design
- Area and Corridor Design

Task 1.4 Detailed Annotated UDO Outline and Report

Based on the results of the forums, the Consultant will refine the annotated outline and describe where new and existing regulations will be located in the new UDO. Before beginning Phase 2, Technical Advisory Team will be asked to confirm that the annotated outline should serve as the basis for organizing the draft regulations.

Phase 2: Assembling the Unified Development Ordinance

Task 2.1 Prepare Administrative and Public Review Drafts

Consultant will draft a preliminary public review draft UDO based on the annotated outline prepared in Task 1.4. Once staff has signed off on an administrative review draft, Consultant will prepare a public review draft for discussion at subsequent workshops. Throughout the drafting, Consultant will regularly coordinate with staff to review and discuss regulatory options to be included in the draft

Task 2.2 Code Building Forum #3 – UDO Refinement Workshops

Consultant will present a preliminary public review draft UDO at a two-day planning forum. Workshops with the Steering Committee, the Technical Advisory Team and the public will provide both general and specific discussions of the purposes, procedures, standards and effects of the new UDO.

- How the UDO Works
- What the UDO Requires

Task 2.3 UDO Revisions

During tasks 2.1 through 2.2, consultant will identify and begin drafting potential revisions to address staff, committee and stakeholder concerns. Consultant will coordinate with staff to identify changes that should be incorporated in the final public review draft.

Phase 3: Finalizing, Adopting, and Implementing the UDO

Task 3.1 Prepare Public Review Draft

Following Task 2.3, Consultant will prepare a Public Review Draft for review by Staff, the Technical Advisory Team and the Steering Committee. After addressing Staff and Committee comments, Consultant will prepare a PDF Public Review Draft for distribution to the public.

Task 3.2 Public Review Draft Workshops

Following distribution of the UDO draft, Consultant will facilitate a public workshop to discuss the implications of the UDO, answer questions and elicit concerns that will be forwarded to the Planning and Zoning Commission prior to adoption. Consultant will facilitate a joint workshop of the Steering Committee, the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Board of County Commissioners to review public concerns and comments and solicit additional guidance prior to task 3.3.

Task 3.3 Planning and Zoning Commission

Consultant will present the draft UDO at a public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission to describe the effect of the UDO, to answer community questions, and support the Commission's decision-making process.

Task 3.4 Board of County Commissioners Hearing

Consultant will present the draft UDO at a public hearing before the Board of County Commissioners and provide support at the hearing. Prior to this meeting, Consultant will prepare an addendum of revisions recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Task 3.5 Refine Final Draft

Following UDO adoption, Consultant will coordinate final revisions and review with Staff and prepare a final version for delivery.

Task 3.6 Training Workshops

Consultant will conduct workshops for staff, elected and appointed officials, the development community, and the public to educate them on new procedures and standards included in the adopted UDO.